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our profile

Perilya is an Australian resource company, 
and the third largest ASX listed zinc producer.

As one of Australia’s largest base metal 
miners, we own and operate the tenth largest 
zinc mine in the world, the Broken Hill mine in 
New South Wales. In addition, we recently 
achieved the first full year of production 
from our Daisy Milano gold project, located 
near Kalgoorlie in Western Australia.

Our base metal exploration interests include 
projects located throughout Australia and 
in Malaysia.

Our corporate offices are in Perth, Western 
Australia and we employ approximately 
625 people Australia wide. We are listed on 
the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX: PEM) 
with a market capitalisation of over 
$500 million.

our future 

Perilya’s strategy is to build on our past 
achievements and the current buoyant 
commodities markets to position the 
company for sustainable long term growth. 
Our focus is on:

> extending the life and increasing the 
profit margins of our operations

> creating value from our development 
projects and exploration assets

> building the capabilities of our people 
and systems.

outlook for 2006/07

Production levels at Broken Hill are 
expected to be similar to 2005/06 - zinc 
production is forecast at between 130,000 
and 140,000 tonnes and lead production 
between 70,000 and 80,000 tonnes. 

With metal prices remaining at current levels, 
we expect to deliver another good financial 
result in 2006/07. Our exploration and 
project development programs are poised 
to accelerate during the year and we are 
well positioned to fund our organic growth 
strategy and new business opportunities.
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the 2005/06 year in brief
> Record $67.0 million profit after tax for the full year ended 30 June 2006 

(after $13.3 million Daisy Milano write down)

> Final divided of four cents per share (fully franked), bringing the total to five 
cents per share for the financial year

> $161.6 million in cash and receivables at 30 June 2006

> Broken Hill zinc production increased 9.2 per cent to 144,100 tonnes, with lead 
22.4 per cent higher to 74,800 tonnes

> 18 per cent increase in Broken Hill Ore Reserves

> 23 per cent increase in Mount Oxide Mineral Resource estimate to 100,000 
tonnes contained copper

> Paid (four years early) the final instalment of the $55.0 million deferred 
acquisition liability the company held as a result of the purchase of the Broken 
Hill assets in 2002 

> $46.8 million upfront payment received from the sale of 17.2 million ounces of  
silver to a wholly owned Australian subsidiary of Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation

> Production from Daisy Milano of 27,298 ounces of gold in its first full year 
of operation.
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positioning for

       sustainable

   growth
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performance summary

financial highlights

> Record net profit after tax, up 

$73.1 million to $67.0 million

> Net cash flow from operations 

up 451 per cent to $166.0 million 

> Cash and receivables up 

385 per cent to $161.6 million

> Inaugural fully franked total 

annual dividend of five cents 

per share

> Market capitalisation up 

260 per cent 

operational highlights

> Total contained base metal 

production up 13.4 per cent, 

with zinc up 9.2 per cent and 

lead up 22.4 per cent 

> Broken Hill LTIFR down 

13.6 per cent to 3.8 occurrences 

per million man hours worked

> 18 per cent increase in Broken 

Hill Ore Reserves

> 27,298 ounces of gold from 

Daisy Milano’s first full year 

of production 

> 23 per cent increase in Mount 

Oxide Mineral Resource estimate

performance summary

SEE PAGE 36 FOR A FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL HISTORY * Net of concentrate treatment charges
# Contained metal

 30	JunE	2006 30 JUNE 2005 CHANgE (%)

Revenue ($million)* 345.0 193.2 78.6

EBITDA ($ million) 133.0 13.7 870.1

Net profit/(loss) after tax ($ million) 67.0 (6.1) na

Earnings per share (cents) 35.6 (3.6) na

Dividend per share (cents) 5.0 Nil na

Zinc production (‘000 tonnes)# 144.1 132.0 9.2

Lead production (‘000 tonnes)# 74.8 61.1 22.4

Silver production (million ounces) 2.1 1.9 10.5

gold production (‘000 ounces) 27.3 4.8 468.8
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AgAAP AIFRS

BAsIC EARNINgs 
PER sHARE

(cents)

REvENuE

($ million)

02 03 04 0605

4.6 12.1

157.7

191.1

345.0

193.2

02 03 04 0605

(0.3) (0.1)

8.0

(2.8)

35.6

(3.6)

NET PROFIT/(LOss) 
AFTER TAX

($ million)

02 03 04 0605

(0.2) (0.1)

12.8

(4.7)

67.0

(6.1)

CAsH FLOw 
FROM OPERATINg 
ACTIvITIEs

($ million)

(6.9) (7.5)

8.7

30.1

166.0

30.1

02 03 04 0605

EBITDA

 870%

to $133.0 million

REvENuE

 78.6%

to $345.0 million

SEE PAGES 8 & 9 FOR MORE DETAILS
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251.5%
       increase in
         share price

Patrick	O’Connor	
Chairman

Len	Jubber	
Chief Executive Officer

SEE PAGE 32 FOR DIRECTOR PROFILES
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chairman and ceo report

Twelve months ago marked the beginning 
of a new era at Perilya and we set ourselves 
the ambitious challenge of:

> refocusing our culture on creating 
shareholder value

> building our capabilities

> seizing the opportunity for growth.

We are pleased to report that the past 
year has been a watershed year for 
Perilya. We have experienced substantial 
positive change in the company and a 
significant improvement in our underlying 
performance. This coincided with the 
benefits of being a major producer in a 
strong zinc market – all of which combined 
to deliver exceptional financial returns to 
shareholders over the past year.

leading change
Leadership across the organisation has 
effectively changed at all senior levels.  
These changes reflect the future needs of 
the business and were an integral part of 
positioning Perilya for sustainable long 
term growth.

In addition to these changes, key senior 
management support roles, namely 
Capability Building and Sustainable 

Development, were also established to 
enhance the growth strategy. These roles 
are an investment in our future and not 
typically synonymous with companies of 
our current size, but rather those which 
have attained a sustainable future.

Subsequently, capability building programs 
have focused on developing our people 
and systems. Specifically, we have 
adopted empirically proven organisational 
development methodologies and focused 
on clearly defining the various roles in the 
organisation, coupled with ensuring the 
people capability within these roles. 

To this end, intensive leadership and 
organisational systems development 
have resulted in creating a receptive and 
responsive employee group, eager to drive 
the business to new levels of performance.

Furthermore, employee ownership in 
our future has been fostered through 
the introduction of the Employee Share 
Acquisition Plan (ESAP) at the start of the 
new financial year. Our ESAP comprises 
both an introductory grant of shares to 
each employee as well as the ongoing 
opportunity to co-invest in our future 
matched by company contributions.

MARkET 
CAPITALIsATION 

 260%

to $573 million

RELATIVE	SHARE	PRICE	PERFORMAnCE	
(A$)

 Perilya 
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financial performance
Our net profit during the past year increased 

by $73.1 million to $67.0 million after tax. 

This result included a substantial write-down 

in the carrying value of the Daisy Milano gold 

Mine, based on its performance to date.

The dramatic and sustained increase in 

commodity prices in the December quarter 

highlighted the substantial cash flow 

generating capacity of Broken Hill. This was 

further accentuated during the later half 

of the year, when the balance sheet was 

further strengthened to a very healthy 

$161 million cash and receivables with less 

than $10 million debt. It is noteworthy that 

the free cash flow generated by Broken Hill 

in the past year alone, was more than the 

$90 million acquisition cost.  

This included the sale of future silver 

production, a by-product from Broken Hill, 

which included an upfront payment of 

$46.8 million in September 2005 to provide 

the initial financial security needed to 

underpin our transformation activities.

The Board remains acutely aware of the 

cyclical nature of our industry and, given 

the relatively high cost nature of the Broken 

Hill operations, deemed it appropriate to 

lock in a portion of the value derived from 

the record high commodity prices over the 

past six months. To this end, Perilya has to 

date hedged between 25 and 30 per cent 

of its lead and zinc production over the 

next two years. This will provide a stable 

platform from which to:

> further improve the margins from 

our operations

> create value from our development and 

exploration assets

> build the requisite capability of our 

people and systems.

The Board declared an inaugural annual 

dividend of five cents per share following 

the successful transition from an explorer 

to profitable producer in the past year.  

This return to shareholders signals a 

commitment to paying a competitive level 

of sustainable dividends from operating 

profits in the future.

The improvement in underlying performance 

and increase in commodity prices during 

the past year has seen a 251.5 per cent 

increase in the share price. This extraordinary 

increase, in our opinion, partially captures 

the value created over the past four financial 

years. Including the recent dividend, 

it equates to an average annual total 

shareholder return of 57.4 per cent since the 

acquisition of the Broken Hill asset in 2002.

sustainable operations
Operational performance during the past 

year has shown the benefit of a focused 

and systematic approach to business 

improvement. The key project during the year 

targeted greater adherence to the complex 

remnant mining schedule at Broken Hill 

which increased almost two fold to 80 per 

cent during the second half of 2005/06. 

It has also highlighted some of the significant 

opportunities to eliminate inefficiencies still 

prevalent throughout the business.

Safety performance at Broken Hill continued 

to improve with the reduction in lost time 

injuries (LTI) and a record of 100 LTI free days.

Broken Hill is one of the largest producers in 
a global zinc industry experiencing a supply 
deficit. The deficit is attributed to decades 
of under investment in exploration and 
new mines, at a time of increased demand 
largely driven by ongoing growth of the 
Chinese economy.  Since the start of 2006, 
the London Metals Exchange zinc stockpiles 
have steadily declined from approximately 
600,000 tonnes to below 145,000 tonnes at 
the end of September 2006.

Multiple growth opportunities at Broken 
Hill are being pursued including:

> ongoing ore body extension drilling at the 
Southern Operations and North Mine

> the development of an exploration 
decline at the Potosi ore body 
commencing in late 2006

> a feasibility study on redeveloping 
the deeper zones of the North Mine 
(last mined in 1993) which is due for 
completion in late 2007.

Our future focus on base metals will likely 
see the divestment of the gold assets 
including Daisy Milano Mine during the 
second half of 2006.  

new projects
A review of the Flinders high grade zinc 
oxide project in South Australia has 
confirmed the direct shipment of ore 
from this highly price sensitive project to 
suitable smelters as the best option to 
maximise shareholder returns from this 
asset. It is anticipated that development 
of the Flinders project in the coming year 
will deliver a second substantial cash flow 
stream to the company.

Exploration at the Mount Oxide copper 
project in Queensland, Australia is set to 
resume in September 2006, following the 
23 per cent upgrade in mineral resource to 
100,000 tonnes copper over the past year.  
The project, located in the Mount Isa belt, 
is relatively close to existing metallurgical 
processing facilities and offers significant 
exposure to the current high copper prices.

Perilya is well positioned to generate 
substantial cash in the current commodity 
boom – a credit to the efforts of all our 
employees and members of the Board 
who have collectively contributed not only 
to our being in the right place at the right 
time, but also delivering the performance 
required to capitalise on this opportunity.  
Our challenge and responsibility now 
is to convert this favourable position 
to a sustainable competitive return 

to shareholders.

PERILYA’S BROKEN HILL OPERATION IS 
ONE OF THE LARGEST PRODUCERS IN ZINC 
GLOBALLY.
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recognition
On behalf of the Board we would like to 
express our sincere appreciation to 
Colin McIntyre who retired from the Board 
at the Annual general Meeting held in 
November 2005, and to Barry Mitchell 
who led the turnaround at Broken Hill until 
December 2005.

We would also like to thank all of our 
employees, importantly now all shareholders 
in Perilya, and our fellow directors for 
embracing the challenge of building a new 
Perilya – one which we look forward to 
leading on behalf of all shareholders.

outlook 
Our strategic focus in the upcoming year will 
be to position Perilya for sustainable growth.

The ongoing strength in our commodities, 
rapid advances in new project developments, 
growing organisational capability and strong 
cash flow from operations auger well for a 
successful year for your company.

“Our challenge and responsibility is to deliver a sustainable 
competitive return to shareholders.”

Len Jubber Patrick O’Connor
Chief Executive Officer Chairman
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financial review

record profit
Perilya Limited announced a record net profit 

after tax of $67.0 million for the 2005/06 year. 

This was an increase of $73.1 million from 

the 2004/05 reported loss of $6.1 million 

and included a $13.3 million after tax write 

down to the carrying value of the Daisy 

Milano gold asset.  

During the year our profit margins increased 

steadily, driven by growth in metal prices and 

the tight management of direct operating 

costs. The zinc price increased by 167 per cent 

over the financial year, with lead prices also 

increasing by 11 per cent over the same period.

Total direct operating cost increases at Broken 

Hill were limited to only 4.5 per cent (compared 

to 2004/05) with gains in mine scheduling 

efficiency and increased productivity offsetting 

global operating cost pressures.

The full year result equates to earnings 

of 35.6 cents per share compared to a 

loss of 3.6 cents per share in 2004/05. 

Earnings for the second half (annualised) 

were 53.0 cents per share.

Broken Hill contributed $126.4 million in 

earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 

during the year (2004/05: $7.8 million) 

from concentrate sales of $323.0 million. 

Net profit in the second half of the year 

increased almost fourfold on the first half 

result (before write downs) in line with 

the strong price increases across the base 

metals complex. 

The Daisy Milano write down of $13.3 million 

after tax (in line with AIFRS requirements) 

reflects the average production levels and 

operational efficiencies achieved during 

the year. The resulting carrying value does 

not reflect any of the upside identified in 

the technical study due for completion in 

October 2006.

strong operating cash flow
Total net cash flow for 2005/06 was 

$113.0 million, an increase of $132.1 million 

on the previous year’s deficit of $19.1 million. 

This included $46.8 million received in 

September 2005 from the sale of future silver 

production from the Broken Hill operation 

to Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation.

At year end, Perilya cleared the $55.0 million 

Broken Hill deferred acquisition liability 

following the payment of the final price and 

production linked payments of $8.5 million. 

Price and production linked payments 

for the 2005/06 financial year totalled 

$30.1 million. This acquisition liability was 

DAVID DIVITA, GROUP FINANCIAL CONTROLLER AND VANESSA BLACHNIG, 
PERSONAL ASSISTANT. OUR CORPORATE OFFICE RELOCATION TO PERTH CBD 
PLACES US IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO KEY STAKEHOLDERS.

CAsH AND RECEIvABLEs
($m)

 385%

15.5

47.1 50.6

31.2

161.6

33.3

02 03 04 0605

SEE PAGE �0 FOR MORE DETAILS
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$73.1 million

       increase in
   profit

Tim Manners
BBus, ACIS, CA

General Manager Finance

Tim Manners was appointed general Manager 
Finance on 7 March 2006. He has over 13 years 
experience in senior roles within the resource 
sector. Tim is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants and the Chartered 
Institute of Company Secretaries. During his 
career, Tim has held a number of accounting, 
finance and corporate roles in resource based 
ASX listed companies.

Tim has primary responsibility for Perilya’s 
financial management.

RETuRN ON 
CAPITAL EMPLOYED
(%)

 

(0.3) (0.1)

7.1

(2.5)

25.3

(3.2)

02 03 04 0605

SEE PAGES 6� & 62 FOR MORE DETAILS

RETuRN ON EquITY 
(%)

 

(0.6) (0.2)

14.1

(4.4)

54.1

(5.7)

02 03 04 0605 AgAAP AIFRS
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part of the original terms of the purchase of 

the Broken Hill mine in 2002. The debt was 

cleared from operational cash flow, and was 

accomplished four years ahead of schedule, 

a significant milestone for the company.

Sales revenue from the Broken Hill operation 

for 2005/06 was $323.0 million (2004/05: 

$188.4 million) and is net of refining 

and treatment charges of $136.8 million 

(2004/05: $79.5 million).

Sales revenue from the company’s Daisy 

Milano gold operation increased by 489 

per cent to $15.9 million in its first full year 

of operation (2004/05:$2.7 million).

Significant expenditures during the year 

included payment of the outstanding 

deferred acquisition liability of $30.1 million, 

mine properties and development of $29.8 

million, capital expenditure programs of 

$11.7 million and $5.6 million on exploration.

Cash and receivables at year end totalled 

$161.6 million (2004/05: $33.3 million).

inaugural dividends
A fully franked interim dividend of one cent 

per share was paid on 7 April 2006 and a 

fully franked final dividend of four cents per 

share for the period ending 30 June 2006 

was declared on 30 August 2006, making 

the total dividend for 2005/06 five cents 

per share. 

sale of silver
In September 2005, Perilya sold 17.2 million 

ounces of payable silver from the Broken Hill 

Mine to a wholly owned Australian subsidiary 

of Coeur d’Alene Mines Corporation (Coeur) 

for an upfront payment of US$36.0 million 

($46.8 million). Coeur will also pay an 

ongoing US$2.00 per ounce as each 

ounce of silver is produced plus a refining 

charge of US$0.31 per ounce (indexed to 

CPI), which is expected to amount to a 

further $40 million. A further US$6 million, 

contingent upon Perilya achieving agreed 

minimum production thresholds, will be 

paid in annual increments over the next 

eight years.

Coeur will share mining and operational 

risk at the Broken Hill Mine and Perilya 

will fully retain the upside in any silver 

resources beyond the 17.2 million ounce 

cap, which represents 27 per cent of current 

silver resources at Broken Hill. 

Selling a by-product of our zinc-lead 

production, which contributes only eight 

per cent of the company’s revenue, for 

around 40 per cent of Perilya’s then market 

capitalisation was a value accretive result. 

This silver transaction has delivered 

development funds at a significantly lower 

cost of capital than other alternatives and 

has enabled us to fast track our capital 

investment activities and progress our 

development project opportunities.

investments
During the year we reviewed our investments 

in line with the new base metals strategy 

and the subsequent divestment of non core 

investments yielded proceeds of $10.8 million. 

The market value of the company’s listed 

equity at 30 June 2006 was $9.6 million.

borrowings
Borrowings were reduced by 44 per cent 

to $7.1 million over the year, comprising 

mobile equipment hire purchase 

commitments and short term insurance 

premium funding.

Perilya has a strong, virtually un-geared 

balance sheet, providing the company with 

considerable flexibility to fund internal and 

external opportunities.

financial risk management
Our aim is to position Perilya so that it can 

generate superior returns to shareholders 

throughout the commodity cycle. 

In managing financial risk, we have adopted 

a balanced approach with appropriate 

levels of revenue protection relative to 

our anticipated cost profile, the current 

commodity price relative to the long term 

average, and the anticipated volatility in 

commodity prices. 

Our hedging policy is strategy dependent 

and focused on creating a stable operating, 

planning and investment platform from 

which to grow the business. It complements 

our process improvement initiatives, which 

are designed to initially contain our direct 

costs in the current inflationary market 

and lower our long term operating costs. 

In the case of Broken Hill, we monetized 

the future sale of silver (a by-product) and 

in the short term will lock in future value 

through hedging more lead sales 

(a co-product) in preference to zinc sales 

(the primary product).

2005-2006	CASH	MOVEMEnTS	($M)

Opening Balance

Broken Hill operation

Silver sale

Borrowings

Net investment portfolio transactions

Issued capital on exercise of options

Production and price linked payments

Debt repayments

Exploration

Daisy Milano

Dividend payments

Other

Closing Balance

 0.0 50.0 100.0 150.0 200.0 250.0
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At June 30 2006 Perilya entered into 
Australian dollar denominated forward 
sales contracts for approximately 25 per 
cent of forecast zinc sales and 30 per cent 
of forecast lead sales out to June 2008. 

This represents less than seven per cent 
of the current reserves at Broken Hill. 
As a result, the company remains exposed 
to the spot market price for over 93 per 
cent of its reserves.

The hedging contracts have been entered 
into on an unsecured basis and are not 
subject to any margin calls. 

The contracts are also compliant with 
the hedge effectiveness requirements of 
the Australian Equivalent of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 

commodity market 
outlook
Perilya is extremely well positioned to 
capitalise on the current strong metal price 
environment. We believe that the supply 
and demand fundamentals supporting 
the base metal markets, particularly zinc, 
remain very strong.

London Metal Exchange (LME) stockpiles 
of zinc are the lowest in over a decade, 
having fallen by 75 per cent since 30 June 
2005. Closing LME stockpiles of zinc as at 
end September 2006 were approximately 
145,000 tonnes, which represents only six 
days consumption.

We believe that the tightening fundamentals 
of increasing demand, particularly from 
China and the emerging economies of India, 
Brazil and Russia, coupled with the lack of 
any new significant supply sources coming 
on stream, should underpin the zinc price 
for the coming years.

The long term fundamentals for lead are 
weaker with the recent dramatic decreases 
in LME stockpiles driven by temporary 
supply shortfalls. We anticipate that 
the lead price will trend down over the 
short term.

LME	STOCkS	(LHS)	VS	ZInC	CASH	PRICE	(RHS)

 Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep 
 05 05 05 05 05 05 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06 06

600,000

550,000

500,000

450,000

400,000

350,000

300,000

250,000

200,000

150,000

100,000

50,000

0

4,000

3,750

3,500

3,250

3,000

2,750

2,500

2,250

2,000

1,750

1,500

1,250

1,000

 Zinc cash price 
 LME stocks

LME	STOCkS	(LHS)	VS	LEAd	CASH	PRICE	(RHS)
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WITH RECORD HIGH COMMODITY PRICES, DARRYL EDWARDS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND SIMON 
MICHAEL, GROUP COMMERCIAL MANAGER PLAYED KEY ROLES TO SECURE PERILYA’S HEDGING OPTIONS 
FOR 25-30 PER CENT OF LEAD AND ZINC PRODUCTION IN THE NEXT TWO YEARS.
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SEE PAGE �4 FOR MORE DETAILS

TOTAL ZINC 
PRODuCTION

  9.2%

to 144,100 tonnes

TOTAL LEAD 
PRODuCTION

  22.4%

to 74,800 tonnes

SEE PAGE �4 FOR MORE DETAILS

broken hill 

     production
  up 13.4%
Rob scargill
BEng (Hons), GradDipMgmt

General Manager Broken Hill

Rob Scargill was appointed general Manager 
Broken Hill on 22 November 2005. Rob is an 
engineer with 20 years experience in the mining 
industry. His most recent roles include five years 
with gympie Eldorado Mines as general Manager 
Operations and six years at BHP’s Cannington 
Mine in a number of senior engineering roles. 

Rob’s responsibilities include managing the 
Broken Hill mine operations.
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operational review

operational performance

Broken Hill, 
New south wales
(�00 per cent ownership)

Perilya has brought a new lease of life 
to the historic Broken Hill mine over the 
last four years, increasing production 
and extending its life to more than six 
years based on existing reserves. Further 
increasing ore reserves and extending the 
mine life at Broken Hill to beyond ten years 
are important cornerstones in our strategy 
for sustainable growth. 

In Broken Hill, we have an opportunity 
to create significant further value by 
enhancing operational capability and 
capitalising on that capability to deliver 
organic growth through the development of 
additional deposits already defined. 

Despite its long history, the Broken Hill ore 
body is potentially open in all directions, 
with many areas that are still relatively 
under explored. With a mine life having 
been maintained at five years for our first 
three years of operation and then increased 
to six, we have a well established track 
record of ore body extension.

We are fortunate to be part of a skilled 
and experienced mining community that 

is supportive and has a strong sense of 
identity. We have an experienced and 
settled residential workforce, one that 
blends younger professional and technical 
expertise with mature Broken Hill mining 
experience - a workforce that is committed 
and eager to embrace new ideas and 
technologies.

The proprietary techniques and operating 
approaches developed through operating 
a large, complex remnant mine not only 
enable us to extract full value from Broken 
Hill, but also provide us with a competitive 
advantage for developing other challenging 
ore bodies.

More than 120 years of mining at Broken 
Hill has endowed us with well developed 
infrastructure that has the capacity and 
flexibility to operate at higher volumes and 
with a range of ore sources.

We believe that our extensive asset base 
at Broken Hill, coupled with a buoyant zinc 
market and potential for extending known 
ore resources, represents a compelling 
value proposition. 

TOTAL sILvER 
PRODuCTION

 10.5%

to 2.13 million ounces

SEE PAGE �4 FOR MORE DETAILS OUR STRATEGY FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IS BEING REALISED 
AS THE BROKEN HILL MINE LIFE CONTINUES TO EXTEND.
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By approaching these opportunities 
with a fresh set of eyes, using innovative 
approaches to tap into the rich seam of 
past knowledge, and introducing new 
practices and technologies, we believe that 
we can unlock the considerable latent value 
at Broken Hill. 

production
At Broken Hill, our core focus has been on 
achieving a strong and reliable cash flow 
through reducing operational variability. 
This was achieved through the introduction 
of systematic business improvements. 

During the year, the Broken Hill operation 
has achieved strong gains in operational 
performance, building on past learnings, 
with records being set for production and 

safety during the year. 

Metal production increased during the 
year largely due to improved planning and 
better understanding of the key operational 
business drivers, resulting in greater 
production stability.

Year on year, Broken Hill zinc production 
was up 9.2 per cent to 144,100 tonnes, with 
lead 22.4 per cent higher at 74,800 tonnes, 
largely due to increased mill throughput. 
Silver production increased 10.5 per cent, 
from 1.85 million ounces in 2004/05 to 
2.13 million ounces this year. 

Total ore mined during the year was 2.05 
million tonnes, compared to 1.88 million 
tonnes in the previous year. Higher mining 
rates achieved in the last four months of 
the year equated to an annualised rate of 
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REPRESENT THE GENERATIONS OF SKILL AND 
EXPERIENCE BUILT UP IN BROKEN HILL DURING ITS 
�20 YEAR ASSOCIATION WITH MINING.
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2.2 million tonnes per annum. Ore mined 
from the North Mine more than doubled to 
207,800 tonnes for the year, compared to 
92,800 tonnes in 2004/05, achieving the 
company’s planned target of 10 per cent of 
total annual ore feed.

Trial mining of the pillars between 
previously mined areas at the Southern 
operations delivered 109,995 tonnes at 
an average grade of 9.3 per cent zinc, 
7.9 per cent lead, and 68 grams per tonne 
of silver. Following the success of the trial, 
1.4 million tonnes of pillar material was 
added to the Ore Reserve.

Total direct operating cost increases at 
Broken Hill were limited to 4.5 per cent, 
with the benefits in mine scheduling 
efficiency and increased productivity largely 
offsetting global operating cost pressures.

Total metal production in 2006/07 is expected 
to be similar to the past year, with zinc 
production forecast at between 130,000 
and 140,000 tonnes and lead production 
between 70,000 and 80,000 tonnes.

resources and reserves
During the year, Broken Hill achieved an 
18 per cent increase in combined zinc and 
lead metal over the 15 months since the 
previous Ore Reserve estimate. 

This has successfully extended the mine 
life beyond six years and we are confident 
that further work will extend the mine life 
beyond ten years. (Refer to Resources and 
Reserves Table, page 34).

MALAySIA
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extending the life 
of Broken Hill

Potosi
(�00 per cent ownership)

The Potosi deposit is located approximately 
five kilometres from the current North Mine 
underground operations.

Open cut mining of this shallow dipping 
crescent shaped ore body previously 
occurred at the surface outcrop. Drilling 
over recent years has confirmed a Mineral 
Resource of 1.6 million tonnes at 13.0 per 
cent zinc, 3.1 per cent lead and 43.1 grams 
per tonne silver (refer to Resources and 
Reserves Table, page 34). Furthermore, 
mineralisation has been shown to extend 
beyond the current ore body.

Prefeasibility studies recently completed 
have confirmed the economic viability of 
the project at conservative metal prices 
with additional areas of the ore body 
converted to mineral reserves through 
infill drilling.

The 400-700 metre depth of the deposit 
precludes cost effective infill drilling from 
surface, hence the commitment to develop 
an exploration decline that is scheduled to 
commence in early 2007.

The decline will generally follow the 
ore body enabling staged mining of the 
resources confirmed to date. This first 
stage will be self funding through mining 
ore en route and will enable cost efficient 
access and assessment of the remainder of 
the Potosi Mineral Resource, which affords 
considerably greater tonnage potential and 
annual production capability. Mining of ore 

is expected to start in mid 2007 with 
the on-going development costs to the 
base of the ore body likely to be a self 
funding exercise. 

As a third source of ore within striking 
distance of the existing under utilised 
processing facility at Broken Hill, Potosi 
provides considerable option value in the 
tightening zinc market.

The project risk is significantly reduced 
through the low upfront working capital 
requirement (less than $20 million) coupled 
with the staged, self funding exploration 
and trial mining approach.

The Potosi project, which is in the 
final stages of permitting, is expected 
to contribute approximately 200,000 
- 400,000 tonnes of ore to the existing 
Broken Hill operation over a five to seven 
year period, with its full impact occuring 
in 2007/08.

North Mine Deeps
(�00 per cent ownership)

The North Mine Deeps project constitutes 
a potential fourth source of ore in close 
proximity to the Broken Hill processing 
infrastructure.

The project is focused on the known 
mineral resource in the deeper parts of the 
North Mine and the ore remaining within 
the Fitzpatrick lode. The project will also 
establish an exploration drilling platform to 
test extensions at depth and to the north, 
following up on previous drilling into the 
2K zone which had a best intercept of 
17.8 metres (15.6 metres true width) at 
13.4 per cent zinc, 15.7 per cent lead and 
360.9 grams per tonne of silver.

A scoping study undertaken during the 

year highlighted the potential viability of 

re-commissioning the No.3 shaft at the 

North Mine to access an Inferred Resource 

of 4.2 million tonnes at 11.2 per cent zinc, 

13.7 per cent lead and 214 grams per tonne 

of silver (refer to Resources and Reserves 

Table, page 34).

Mining in the lower levels of the North Mine 

ceased in 1993 due to low metal prices and 

the high costs associated with the difficult 

mining conditions and mining methods 

employed. We believe that combining 

modern mining techniques, our experience 

with mining remnant ore at Broken Hill, 

and our skilled workforce - many of whom 

have previously worked in the deeper levels 

- will provide the necessary ingredients for 

solving the technical challenges associated 

with North Mine Deeps and accessing its 

high grade potential.

The project is relatively low risk, with 

known mineralogy, an existing local 

mining workforce that can be expanded 

to accommodate the project, and close 

proximity to our existing infrastructure.

The Perilya Board has approved 

commencement of a prefeasibility study for 

the project due for completion in 2007.

Broken Hill regional
Base metals

We manage 1,042 square kilometres of 

prospective terrain around Broken Hill, 

which includes exploration licences over 

the historic Little Broken Hill and Pinnacles 

area, and mine leases incorporating the 

Southern Operations, North Mine and 

Potosi line. Exploration activities continue 

at Little Broken Hill and Stirling Vale where 

significant high-grade intercepts identified 

during the year indicate that these assets 

could play a key role in the future of the 

Broken Hill operations. 

During the year, Perilya hosted the BHIg 

(a play on the word big and Broken Hill) 

Ideas Conference, bringing together 

expert geologists who had worked in 

and around Broken Hill during the last 20 

years to discuss the future of the region. 

The conference was a rare opportunity 

for geologists with knowledge of the 

Broken Hill area to come together, analyse 

historical exploration results and formulate 

a collective, expert opinion on the 

probability of there being additional ore 

bodies in the region. The general consensus 

was that significant ore still remains within 

the Broken Hill region.

JARED BROOME, GEOLOGY SUPERINTENDENT 
APPLIES MODERN TECHNOLOGY TO EXPLORATION 
DATA TO UNLOCK THE POTENTIAL OF BROKEN HILL.
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Armed with this knowledge and the ability 
to apply new exploration techniques to 
the area, we have defined and ranked 41 
specific exploration targets from the more 
than 90 ideas presented over the three-day 
conference. The targets that ranked highly 
are those that are close to existing mine 
infrastructure and can be evaluated 
most rapidly.

continuous 
improvement
Adopting a systematic process improvement 
approach during the year resulted in a suite 
of continuous improvement projects aimed 
at achieving even greater consistency of 
operations, further increasing productivity 
and lowering operating costs. These projects 
are discussed in the Building Capability 
section of this report on pages 22 to 25. 

The key to optimising the Broken Hill mine 
lies in developing systems of operation 
that naturally fit with widely distributed 
ore sources (stopes) in the remnant ore 
body. Efforts to indiscriminately increase 
or smooth production will result in 
disproportionate increases in operating 
cost and risk. 

Adopting a long term asset value 
maximisation approach will result in the 
lowest cost of production over the life 
of the mine and will maximise return to 
shareholders. This may result in higher 
quarterly variances within a steady annual 
production profile.

DARREN ASHWOOD AND JOHN BRAES FORMED 
PART OF THE TEAM THAT SUCCESSFULLY 
IMPLEMENTED PROCESS IMPROVEMENTS IN 
THE CONCENTRATOR TO REALISE A �.8 PER CENT 
INCREASE IN THROUGHPUT.



PERILYA LIMITED 2006 CONCISE ANNUAL REPORT�8

FLINDERs MINERAL 
REsOuRCE EsTIMATE

 to 951,000

tonnes at 31.1 per cent zinc

DAIsY MILANO 

 to 27,298

ounces of gold

SEE PAGE �9 FOR MORE DETAILS SEE PAGE �9 FOR MORE DETAILS

BROkEN HILL 
ORE REsERvE

 18%

to 19.2 million tonnes

SEE PAGE �5 FOR MORE DETAILS
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new project and 
exploration review

The focus our the past year has been on 
reviewing our portfolio of exploration 
assets and prioritising opportunities to 
accelerate high potential projects in the 
current high commodity price environment. 
The review process conducted in the first 
half did however, require a hiatus in our 
evaluation activities.

development

Daisy Milano, western Australia
(�00 per cent ownership)

During the year, Daisy Milano generated 
27,298 ounces of gold as production 
ramped up during its first full year of 
production. Total ore mined was 111,288 
tonnes, with an ore head grade of  
7.63 grams per tonne. gold recovery was 
96.3 per cent. Ore was primarily sourced 
from the lateral extent of the ore body 
and ore development drives contributed to 
the lower than expected ore grades.

Development activities focused on 
updating the resource model and confirming 
the optimal future mining method. A technical 
study, due for completion in October 2006, 
has identified a number of key process 
improvements that will be implemented in 
2006/07. 

Subsequent to year end the Board has 

decided to explore divestment options for 

all of the gold assets in the context of a 

base metal growth strategy. A decision on 

whether to divest these assets is expected 

before the end of December 2006.

Flinders, south Australia
(85-�00 per cent ownership)

The Flinders project comprises several 

high grade zinc oxide deposits located 

near Leigh Creek, a well established mining 

community. The project provides Perilya 

with an outstanding opportunity for the 

timely development of a niche product to 

take full advantage of the prevailing high 

zinc prices and tight market conditions. 

The overall project Mineral Resource is 

951,000 tonnes at 31.1 per cent zinc (refer 

to Resources and Reserves Table, page 34).

During the year, a trial parcel of Beltana ore 

processed at an off-shore zinc plant confirmed 

its amenability for hydrometallurgical 

extraction and smelting. A feasibility study is 

in progress to re-develop the Beltana open pit 

as a direct shipping ore project using existing 

Perilya infrastructure at Port Pirie. 

The project will comprise a 12-15 month 

mining and on-site crushing program, 

MOuNT OXIDE MINERAL 
REsOuRCE EsTIMATE

 23%

to 100,000 tonnes of 
contained copper

MARK MANLY, EXPLORATION MANAGER HAS BEEN INSTRUMENTAL IN DETERMINING THE 
FULL VALUE OF POTOSI PROJECT.  THE PROJECT IS EXPECTED TO CONTRIBUTE BETWEEN 
200,000 – 400,000 TONNES OF ORE TO THE EXISTING BROKEN HILL OPERATION.

SEE PAGE 20 FOR MORE DETAILS
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with transportation to Port Pirie to meet 

contracted shipping schedules. 

The upfront project and working capital 

requirement will be funded internally.

This feasibility study will provide a platform 

for evaluating the viability of direct ore 

shipping from further deposits along the line 

of strike and the potential to beneficiate 

lower grade ore to economic levels.

In addition, a regional program will be 

established to explore the surrounding 

4,029 square kilometres of tenements.

Potosi, New south wales
Zinc
(�00% ownership)

The Potosi project, which is in the 

final stages of permitting, is expected 

to contribute approximately 200,000 

- 400,000 tonnes of ore to the existing 

Broken Hill operation over a five to seven 

year period. It will provide a third source of 

ore within striking distance of the existing 

under utilised processing facility at Broken 

Hill and provides upside in the tightening 

zinc market. (See page 16 for more detail.)

North Mine Deeps, 
New south wales
Zinc
(�00% ownership)

The North Mine Deeps project constitutes 

a potential fourth source of ore in close 

proximity to the existing processing 

infrastructure. The project is focused on the 

known mineral resource in the deeper parts 

of the North Mine and the ore remaining 

within the Fitzpatrick lode, and will establish 

an exploration drilling platform to test 

known ore body extensions at depth and to 

the north. (See page 16 for more detail on 

both projects)

exploration

Perilya’s exploration portfolio includes 

assets in established areas within Australia, 

well known for world class mineralisation 

systems, as well as promising ground 

in Malaysia. 

A review of our exploration strategy has 

brought a sharper focus on value creation 

activities. This resulted in rationalisation 

of the portfolio during the year with the 

sale of the Bangemall tenements to Abra 

Mining Limited and the joint venturing 

of the Rockhampton tenements with 

Minocqua Limited.

In the short term we will continue to focus on 

Broken Hill and our advanced exploration 

projects, entering into arrangements with 

quality junior explorers to gain exposure to 

early stage exploration opportunities.

Perilya is well placed to fund additional 

investment opportunities as they arise.

Mount Oxide, queensland
Copper

(�00 per cent ownership)

Mount Oxide is located in a proven 

mineralised system in the highly prospective 

Mount Isa region. The Inferred Resource, 

comprising 3.7 million tonnes at 2.7 

per cent copper (refer to Resources and 

Reserves Table, page 34) is contained in 

eight parallel lenses. 

The potential of the deposit was proven 
by previous shallow open cut mining and 
the resource is open at depth. Located 
25 kilometres from an under utilised 
processing facility and close to a major 
mining service town, Mount Oxide has 
considerable potential as a low cost near 
term development project.

We achieved an excellent result from our 
exploration activities at Mount Oxide during 
the year, with a 23 per cent increase in 
mineral resources to 100,000 tonnes of 
contained copper. 

Activities during the year focused on 
gaining a better understanding of the 
geological setting at Mount Oxide. Analysis 
of historical drill data, re-logged drill data 
and historical plans of detailed geological 
mapping of the flooded pit area has also 
enabled better targeting of other known 
mineralised prospects along strike from the 
Mount Oxide resource. 

A 3,500 metre drilling program commenced 
in September 2006 to confirm the re-
interpretation of the geological model 
and to test for extensions of high grade 
mineralisation at depth.

Additional targets have also been defined 
for regional exploration within Perilya’s 
747 square kilometre tenement holding in 
the Mount Isa region.

Rockhampton, queensland
Zinc, lead, copper, gold
(90 per cent ownership)

We reached agreement with Minocqua Metals 
Pty Limited (Minocqua), an associated 
company of Korea Zinc Company Limited, 
whereby Minocqua can earn a 60 per cent 
interest through the expenditure of $6.0 
million over five years in the Rockhampton 
project, located in Queensland.

Nineteen reverse circulation drill holes 
were completed during the year, totalling 
3,120 metres, in the Dee Range area. 
Most of the drill holes intersected zones of 
sub-ore grade sulphide mineralisation and 
alteration of VHMS style. The most positive 
indication was in the Mt Alexander area 
where vectors of increasing zinc grades 
were found within a large alteration zone.

Moyagee, western Australia
Gold
(�00 per cent ownership)

Previous drilling north of Perilya’s Lena 
Inferred Resource (820,200 tonnes at 
8.5 grams per tonne of gold - refer to 
Resources and Reserves Table, page 34) 
had intersected the eastern edge of a 

ExPLORATIOn	&	dEVELOPMEnT	PROJECTS

Potosi

Flinders

North Deeps

Mount Oxide

Tampang

Broken Hill Regional
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Exploration
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Production

Based on calendar year
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gold bearing quartz granophyric dolerite, 
where the Lena Shear intersects the mafic 
stratigraphy of the upper gabanintha 
Formation. Similar geological structures 
are known to host large gold deposits 
throughout the Archaean Yilgarn Block of 
Western Australia. 

This was followed up with 5,880 metres of 
aircore drilling on five traverses to scope 
the extent of the granophyric zonation and 
gold anomalism. 

The northern-most drill traverse intersected 
a greater than one gram per tonne supergene 
gold blanket above the magnetic dolerite 
(MAC332 to MAC334). No drilling has been 
conducted north of this traverse.

Tampang, sabah, Malaysia
Copper
(50 per cent ownership)

The Tampang Project is located in a proven 
copper porphyry mineralised province. 
During the year a reinterpretation of drill 
results and a review by independent 
consultants highlighted the potential for 
exploration upside. The recent renewal 
of the prospecting licence over the 
mineralisation has cleared the way for 
further work.

The Tampang Project is a 50:50 joint venture 
between Perilya Malaysia Sdn Bhd and 
Mamut Copper Mining Sdn Bhd, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Malaysian listed 
company Mega First Sdn Bhd.

The Bongkud porphyry copper mineralisation, 
discovered by the joint venture in 1999, was 
only partially defined before exploration 
was suspended in 2002. The deepest hole 
at Bongkud reported 0.31 per cent copper 
and 0.7 grams per tonne of gold over its 
331 metre length.

The joint venture intends to conduct 
further drilling during 2007 to fully scope 
the mineralisation potential. 

SENIOR GEOLOGIST STEWART PARKER AND 
EXPLORATION SUPERINTENDENT GREG HIGGINS 
EXAMINE CORE SAMPLES FROM STIRLING VALE, 
WHERE SIGNIFICANT HIGH GRADE INTERCEPTS 
HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED. IT IS HOPED THIS PROSPECT 
WILL PLAY A KEY ROLE TO EXTEND THE MINE LIFE 
OF BROKEN HILL.
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building capabilities

A focused and disciplined approach to 

building organisational capability is a 

central plank of Perilya’s strategy for 

delivering sustainable growth. By ‘building 

capability’ we mean improving the way 

people, processes and systems interact to 

create value.

Such is the importance attached to this 

element of our strategy that building 

capability is part of every leader’s role 

definition and a dedicated executive role 

has been established to oversee this 

process across the organisation.

capability for growth

Perilya’s business improvement model is 

based upon a cycle of strategic planning, 

defining and building requisite capability 

to execute that strategy, and then refining 

the strategy based on the opportunities 

presented by the enhanced capability 

platform. The objective is to build capability 

now so that we are in a better position 

to take advantage of opportunities that 

emerge throughout the commodity and 

capital market cycles. Indeed we see 

enhanced capability driving our growth in 

the future.

leadership capability 
and skills
During the year a new executive management 

team and structure was established to 

provide the leadership required to drive 

the company’s growth strategy.

We also initiated a leadership development 

program, which was conducted for 120 

leaders. The program was carefully 

designed to change leadership behaviour, 

provide a coherent model of leadership, 

and a powerful set of team leadership 

and membership skills. This program is 

considered central to the development of 

our desired business culture.

mine variability project
The performance variability project has 

established a systematic framework to 

continually improve operational efficiency 

and effectiveness, thus reducing variability. 

Results included:

> a shift in focus from driving tonnes to 

adherence to mine schedule priorities, 

resulting in greater predictability and, 

consequently, greater productivity in 

terms of metal produced per man shift. 

BROKEN HILL’S MINE VARIABILITY PROJECT SYSTEMATICALLY IMPROVED OUR SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES. 
MANY EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN THE PROCESS IDENTIFIED OPPORTUNITIES TO IMPROVE EFFICIENCY AND 
EFFECTIVENESS, LEADING TO A GREATER ACCOUNTABILITY TOWARDS DELIVERING CONSISTENT PRODUCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS ACROSS THE ORGANISATION.

sCHEDuLE 
ADHERENCE

 80%

from 50%

SEE PAGE 22 & 24 FOR MORE DETAILS
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NORTH MINE 
PRODuCTION

 124%

to 207,800 tonnes

LEADERsHIP 
DEvELOPMENT

 120
participated

SEE PAGE 22 FOR MORE DETAILS SEE PAGE �5 FOR MORE DETAILS

Tim Carstens
BComm, CA

General Manager Corporate Development 

Tim was appointed general Manager Corporate 
Development on 7 November 2005. He has a 
finance background and has broad operations 
and corporate experience in both the resource 
and services sectors. Tim’s most recent roles 
before joining Perilya were that of Chief Financial 
Officer at Integrated group Limited and great 
Southern Plantations Limited, having previously 
spent five years with North Limited.

Tim’s primary focus is on strategic planning and 
building organisational capability.
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BRIAN KILGARIFF, PEOPLE AND PERFORMANCE 
MANAGER AND TEAM MEMBERS SCOTT WITNEY AND 
NATALIE FRANZINELLI APPLY CONTINUAL PROCESS 
IMPROVEMENT TO THEIR DAY-TO-DAY ACTIVITIES.

> a 7.8 per cent increase in concentrator 

throughput, attributable to 

improvements in the North Mine and 

Southern Operations 

> improved production profiles of zinc, 

lead and silver by 9.2 per cent, 22.4 per 

cent and 10.5 per cent respectively

> quarterly variances in total metal 

production at well below 15 per cent

> ore stockpiles at 100 per cent capacity, 

with zinc concentrate inventory 

equivalent to over one month’s 

production.

The project has produced a process 

improvement model that will be shared 

throughout the organisation. The next step 

is to capture and share learning opportunities 

with other parts of the organisation. 

employee engagement
The style of organisation we are building 

is one that is inclusive and engages 

employees on a collective journey of value 

creation through continuous improvement.

The implementation of an Employee Share 

Acquisition Plan means that every one of 

our employees can be a shareholder and 

share in our success. The Plan provides 

employees with an initial allocation of 

Perilya shares and allows them to purchase 

more shares with a matched contribution 

from Perilya. It is a significant investment 

in our people and encourages commitment 

and consistency of purpose across 

the organisation.

Recognising the benefits of consultation, 

senior management empowered a 

working committee to contribute to 

decisions on share plan entitlements and 

employee engagement. 

We have also developed an employee 

engagement system to enhance Perilya as 

an employer of choice. 

organisational design
The company’s organisational structure 

was redesigned during the year in light 

of our strategic objectives, a value chain 

analysis, and the adoption of a stratified 

systems theory approach. This empirically 

proven approach explicitly recognises that 

there are different levels of work, defines 

these and designs roles specifically to 

work at the correct level. Our recruitment 

and performance management systems 

then ensure that we attract and develop 

employees to work to these roles.
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systems design
The development of an integrated suite of 
Perilya business systems not only drives 
the improved performance of our existing 
businesses, but also provides the platform 
to add value to new operations and 
acquisitions through effective integration 
and performance enhancement. 

As part of this process, we capture the 
skills and experience honed at Broken 
Hill, elevating them to a ‘Perilya way’ of 
doing things that can be rolled out to new 
operations and acquisitions. The recent 
performance improvement at Daisy Milano 
can be attributed to the application of 
Broken Hill developed skills, experience 
and systems and as such represents an 
illustration of the potential for value creation. 

performance improvement 
Continual process improvement in Perilya 
has evolved to become an essential 
business tool. The objective is to develop 
improved working practices and operational 
efficiencies that enable successful 
business delivery. 

A key outcome during the year was 
restricting the increase in operating cash 
costs at Broken Hill to 4.5 per cent, despite 
the general rise in input costs experienced 
across the mining industry for labour, 
contractors, raw materials, fuel and energy. 

Other performance improvements during 
the year included:

> a 55 per cent improvement in 
production from the North Mine

> concentrator performance improvements 
in both the zinc and lead circuits

> an 18 per cent decrease in concentrator 
unit costs after implementing operating 
roster changes in the prior year

contractor 
management project
The way in which contractors are used and 
managed in the value chain was identified 
as an area where cost and efficiency 
improvements could be made. A project 
team has been established to review all 
aspects of contractor utilisation from 
the rationale for outsourcing, through 
integration and management, to payment. 
Improvement initiatives from this project 
will be implemented in 2006/07.

esap
Perilya’s Employee Share Acquisition Plan 
(ESAP) is a vehicle to align employees values 
with the Shareholder, Board and management 
vision for growth and profitability.

It also acts as an incentive to:

> attract and retain new and existing 
employees

> foster a sense of ownership amongst 
employees

> motivate employees to help achieve 
business objectives

Employees were invited to participate with 
a one-off free issue of shares, equal to 10 
per cent of their annual salary. Employees 
were also invited to purchase more shares, 
with the company matching employee 
contributions, dollar for dollar, up to a 
further 10 per cent of the employee’s 
annual salary.

Shares acquired under the share plan 
are purchased on-market by the plan’s 
trustee for the benefit of the employees. 
The program was rolled out at the end of 
the financial year.

“The offer aims to strengthen 
individual commitment towards 
positioning the company for 
sustainable, long-term growth.”

Len Jubber 
Chief Executive Officer
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SEE PAGE 28 FOR MORE DETAILS

COMPLAINTs 

  40%

reduction to 12

SEE PAGE 30 FOR MORE DETAILS

PERILYA LTIFR 
NO IMPROvEMENT

 4.7 to 5.6

per million man hours

BROkEN HILL LTIFR 
IMPROvEMENT

  13%

reduction to 3.8

Peter Eggleston
BA, DipEd, GradDipCompSt

General Manager Sustainable Development

Peter was appointed general Manager 
Sustainable Development on 17 July 2006. He is also 
a member of the Water and Rivers Commission Board 
and was formerly director corporate affairs with gRD 
Limited. Prior to that he was the group coordinator 
for sustainable development with Rio Tinto, based in 
the London head office, where he was responsible 
for sustainable development issues across the Rio 
Tinto group. Previously, he was general manager 
external and community affairs with Rio Tinto Iron 
Ore, where he was responsible for government and 
community matters, media, communications, and 
public relations and negotiated several landmark 
Aboriginal land use agreements.

Peter’s responsibilities include introducing 
sustainable development practices to Perilya, 
government and community relations, corporate 
brand building and external communications.
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sustainable development

We believe the best way to create real 
and lasting business value is to deliver 
sustainable growth. It is a driving force for 
the future of the company and an integral 
part of our business plans and decisions.

Perilya recognises that excellence 
in managing our health, safety and 
environmental responsibilities is essential 
to business success. We also know that 
good working relations, internally and 
externally, are fundamental to achieving 
our objectives. 

By adopting a commitment and focus on 
people, environment, host communities 
and management systems, we can better 
manage risk, create business options, 
reduce costs, attract the best employees 
and access new resources. 

A dedicated executive role has been 
established to introduce sustainable 
development practices across the 
company. Not only do we expect superior 
financial returns for our shareholders, 
but also excellent environmental and 
social performance consistent with the 
expectations of our host communities 
and governments. 

Health and safety
Perilya is committed to ensuring the 
highest standards of occupational health 
and safety management at our operations. 
We believe that all personnel share the 
responsibility for ensuring a safe workplace. 

Health and safety management is an 
integral part of our strategic plan and 
our occupational health and safety 
management system ensures the highest 
level of commitment to health and 
safety through the development and 
implementation of safety strategies and 
initiatives at our operations.

systems and controls

Perilya’s safety management system has 
been designed to be consistent with the 
Australian and New Zealand Standard 4801 for 
safety management. The standard provides a 
solid framework to guide all aspects of safety 
management at our operations, including our 
occupational health and safety charter and 
statements, departmental safety management 
plans, inductions and site security policy. 
We submit our systems to both internal 
and external audits on a regular basis to 
ensure ongoing compliance, integration 
and the understanding of relevant 
legislative requirements.

LAND uNDER 
REHABILITATION

 18ha

SEE PAGE 30 FOR MORE DETAILS

TOTAL	CASH	ExPEndITuRE	bREAkdOwn

	 	 $	million

 Taxes, charges & royalties 28.2

 Wages & salaries 51.1

 Contractors & suppliers 176.6

 Price and production linked payments 30.2

 Financing activities 23.5

 Other 4.2

  313.8

57%

16%

9%

10%

7% 1%

NB: THE VAST MAJORITY WAS SPENT IN AUSTRALIA
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safety performance 

Our safety performance at Broken Hill 
continued to improve, demonstrated 
by the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 
(LTIFR) reducing to 3.8 compared with 4.4 
in 2004/05. The improvement is further 
evident when compared with the 2003/04 
result of 6.7 and the 2002/03 result of 
16.9. There were seven lost time injuries 
and seventeen medically treated injuries 
at Broken Hill during the year. The LITFR 
of 25.3 at Daisy Milano, however, was 
disappointing and safety resources and 
systems from Broken Hill are being applied 
at the operation to remedy this situation.

A safety highlight was our Broken Hill 
operations achieving 100 days (450,000 
man hours) Lost Time Injury (LTI) free in 
September 2005 for the first time in the 
mine’s history. 

emergency response

In line with mining industry requirements 
and best practice, Perilya has in place 
emergency response teams that can be 
activated in the event of a crisis situation 
and can provide support to the wider 
community if required. Our emergency 
response training is nationally accredited 
and the teams have state of the art 
equipment to draw upon in a crisis situation.

occupational health

A range of occupational health programs 
are in place to monitor the well being of 
our employees. 

Minimising occupational exposure to lead 
is of particular importance to Perilya and 
we regularly monitor employees for levels 

of exposure to lead particulates and to 
identify trends. We have initiated a range 
of programs to ensure employees and 
community members are aware of the issue 
and can actively minimise exposure levels. 
These include:

> bi-annual blood level monitoring for 
employees and contractors

> assessing work environments on 
a regular basis and introducing 
engineering controls to minimise and 
reduce dust emissions

> providing information, counselling and 
conducting lead awareness seminars 
for employees, contractors and family 
members 

> no smoking is permitted on site at 
Broken Hill.

As a result of our rigorous approach to 
exposure management, no employee 
exceeded our stringent company lead limits 
during the year.

employee health and wellbeing

Our fitness for work policy is designed to 
promote wellbeing and a safe workplace 
by addressing drug, alcohol and fatigue 
related issues.

For those employees who have suffered 
an injury, we have in place a return to work 
program to assist them to regain fitness 
and recommence employment. 
This program includes rehabilitation 
initiatives, as well as modified or reduced 
work activities when the employee returns 
to the workplace. 

developing an 
independent culture
Our philosophy is that all personnel 
share the responsibility for ensuring a 
safe workplace. Initiatives to encourage 
employees to actively identify and 
eliminate unsafe work practices include 
two-way discussions on occupational 
health and safety issues, regular safety 
meetings and shift start-up meetings 
where performance, focus areas and 
developments are discussed, as well as 
employee representatives playing an active 
role in our occupational health and 
safety committee. 

Employees also conduct safety 
observations where they observe 
colleagues at work and advise them of 
any practices that potentially put them at 
risk. The results of the observations are 
wide-ranging, from designing engineering 
solutions for workplace equipment to 
implementing changes to operating 
procedures and systems.

managing contractors
In selecting contractors, we review their 
safety management systems and provide 
assistance, if required, in order to meet our 
safety standards. In some instances where 
contractors have not met our expectations, 
we have terminated contracts because of 
poor safety performance.

environment
Perilya balances its economic and 
environmental values by integrating 
long term planning with environmental 
management techniques to address the 
impacts of current and planned operations.

LTI,	MTI	And	TRI	FOR	PERILyA	2002	-	2006	
(per million man hours)
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We build systems to identify, assess and 
manage environmental risk at each stage 
of exploration, development, operation and 
closure to achieve continuous improvement 
in environmental performance. We regularly 
review our performance in this area.

environmental compliance

Compliance with all environmental laws 
and regulations is the foundation for our 
environmental performance. 

Perilya records and investigates all 
significant environmental issues, 
implements remedial actions to prevent 
reoccurrence and reports non-compliances 
to relevant government departments. 
We recorded no environmental licence 
exceedences during the year.

beyond compliance

Perilya adopts a responsible approach to 
environmental management by imposing 
guidelines within our operations through:

> auditing systems - Perilya undertakes 
voluntary audits of operations, 
processes and compliance with licence 
conditions. This ongoing program 
involves independent external parties 
reviewing environmental controls and 
systems, management practices and 
performance records.

> monitoring community concern - Perilya 
encourages community feedback on 
its operations and, where practicable, 
takes steps to address concerns.

> managing emergency situations - 
protection of the environment and 
minimising impact is a high priority. 
Emergency response plans are in place 

to guide employees in preventing 

environmental damage.

Perilya will continue to deliver improvements 

and innovative solutions that go beyond 

statutory compliance. For example, we 

implemented a sophisticated system of 

fogging misters to reduce dust emission from 

a trial shipment of Beltana ore at Port Pirie.

environmental management 
system

Perilya’s Environmental Management 

System (EMS) is being designed to provide 

a practical management framework to 

minimise environmental impacts from 

our activities. It assists us to set and 

achieve environmental targets, manage 

risks and meet and exceed our regulatory 

requirements. It also recognises the need 

for proactive, high-level leadership in 

environmental strategies and initiatives.

Although our EMS is not ISO14001 

accredited, it is based on the key elements 

within the standard. 

promoting environmental 
responsibility

We promote environmental awareness 

by addressing key environmental risks in 

the induction process for new employees 

and contractors. The aim is to develop 

environmental leadership skills at both 

workforce and management levels from 

the outset. During the year, approximately 

260 individuals completed environmental 

awareness training.

Perilya works in close consultation with a 

number of local and state stakeholders, 

both private and government, to ensure 

its exploration activities leave a minimal 

footprint. In the case of the Beltana and 

Reliance resources, with their proximity to 

the Aroona Sanctuary, local water supply 

bores and tourist routes, Perilya has shown 

it can operate with community support in 

areas of environmental sensitivity.

national pollutant inventory

We continue to monitor and report 

emission levels to the National Pollutant 

Inventory (NPI), a Federal government 

database that reports emissions from 

a variety of substances. Sources of 

emissions from Perilya’s leases during 

the 2005/2006 reporting period included 

mining, processing, stationary engines, fuel 

storage, vehicles and wind erosion.

Reporting to stakeholders
Perilya’s 2005 Annual Report was awarded 
a Bronze Medal and was selected as the 
winner of the “Best First Time Entry” 
category from the Australasian Reporting 
Awards (ARA).

The Award recognises Perilya’s approach 
to providing a clear and accountable report 
of activities to stakeholders. The Awards 
benchmark annual reports against 
pre-established ARA criteria and are 
awarded based on world best practice 
guidelines in annual reporting.

DANNYELLE GAITER, ENVIRONMENT OFFICER 
MONITORING EMISSIONS AT BROKEN HILL

The new look Perilya
During the year we took the opportunity to review 
our corporate brand to reflect our growing maturity 
and plans for long-term sustainable growth.

Our overall visual brand concepts aim to reflect our 
internal leadership culture - dynamic, tenacious, innovative and strong. 

Retaining elements of the symbol in the logo was important for many employees who 
feel a strong association with Perilya’s history and past achievements. The symbol 
in the logo was originally inspired by the crest of a native Australian bird, known in 
Indigenous language as Perilya. Since then, the symbol has evolved over the years to 
what it is today – a simplified, contemporary version of the original concept.
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In the 2004/2005 financial year, Perilya 

reported on 28 NPI substances; this year no 

new substances were identified.

Throughout our operations we work hard 

to reduce emissions through improving 

technology and operating practices.

While diesel use decreased over the past 

year (-3.9%), reclassification of some 

plant as machinery producing point 

source emissions, and wheeled loaders 

accounting for a greater proportion of the 

diesel being used on site has resulted in an 

increase of NPI emissions from combustion 

(wheeled loaders emit more volatile organic 

compounds per unit of fuel used than any 

other vehicle on site).

Dust and metals emissions have decreased 

over the past year in accordance with a 

decrease in vehicle usage on the mine site.

In 2005/2006, a decommissioning study 

of the tailings storage facility determined 

that no seepage was occurring at the site, 

and consequently, emissions to land were 

estimated at zero for all NPI substances.

revegetation

Perilya Broken Hill operates in a semi-arid 

environment that has been impacted by 

more than 120 years of pastoral, mining 

and urban development. Therefore, our 

revegetation program is designed to provide:

> long term stabilisation of surface soils 

to prevent erosion and mobilisation of 

lead contaminated soil

> a landscape that does not detract from 

the visual amenity of significant 

heritage objects

> a level of plant diversity typical of the 

region and that is sustainable without 

maintenance or artificial watering.

18 hectares were rehabilitated during 

the year. The seed mix used in our 

rehabilitation program is predominately 

collected from the local region. Use of 

species endemic to our area of operations 

helps ensure a high success rate in a 

relatively harsh semi-arid environment. 

Perilya also works with local catchment 

authorities and landholders to help control 

and eradicate weeds at a regional level.

water

At Perilya we recognise that water is a 

valuable community resource and we 

remain committed to water conservation 

and efficient use.

Currently, Perilya’s Broken Hill operation 

obtains water from surface water sources. 

We have put in place engineering designs 
to ensure all run-off water is retained and 
reused on site via a system of drainage 
channels and tailings dams.

We continually monitor water use to 
identify further potential efficiency gains. 
The Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) currently classifies Broken Hill as a 
non-discharge site, except during times 
of high intensity rainfall where water is 
occasionally discharged from site after 
passing through a wetland system. 
The wetlands contain a series of filter cells 
containing limestone, activated carbon 
and geotextile that effectively remove 
contaminants from water prior to discharge. 
Water quality during discharge is monitored 
and subject to EPA Licence conditions.

heritage management and 
mine closure 

Perilya is mindful of the Broken Hill mining 
heritage and is committed to playing 
its part to ensure its rightful place in 
Australian history. We are also mindful of 
the considerable safety hazard that derelict 
facilities can pose to the local community.

To this end, we are working closely with 
the community and with heritage experts 
to demolish hazardous derelict facilities 
that cannot be renovated and to mange the 
others for sustainable outcomes beyond 
the eventual mine closure.

We have identified mine closure requirements 
as key components of our mine planning 
activities. This enables planning for both 
progressive rehabilitation and the transition 
to post mining activities in the region.

community
Perilya continues to provide significant 
financial benefit to the communities near 
its operations. We see this as both a 
business opportunity and a social benefit 
to the regions in which we operate. 

This investment includes offering 
employment to local people, developing 
commercial relationships with local 
industries and suppliers, and supporting 
local community programs.

sharing the economic benefits

Perilya’s annual spend in regional 
Australia in the past year was more than 
$200 million. This includes employment, 
purchasing materials and services, and 
taxes and royalties. We also make significant 
contributions to the sustainability of the 
communities near our operations through 

sponsorships and donations.

Direct employment totals more than 625 
people and around 200 indirectly through 
contractors in addition to significant flow-
on employment with service providers to 
the industry. 

Our local supplier policy provides a 
significant injection to the regional economy. 

strengthening regional 
communities

Employing locally from Broken Hill and 
Kalgoorlie for our mining operations 
capitalises on the pre-existing skill base, 
provides workforce stability and has flow 
on effects to regional communities.

During the year we provided financial 
and in-kind support to a wide range of 
community initiatives in the areas of sport, 
health, environment, culture and education. 

The traditional approach of giving money 
to community groups however, is not 
sustainable and we prefer to generate 
community capacity and engender financial 
independence.

community consultation

We actively meet with local decision 
makers, groups and individuals to address 
issues or concerns, report on activities 
and seek input from community members 
on planned activities that may impact on 
the community. We also invite feedback 
through a 1-800 telephone number and 
regularly report activities through the 
media and on our website. Community 
consultation has been undertaken on a 
number of environmental, health, social 
and economic issues. During the year, 
complaints reduced by 40 per cent to 12.

A number of our exploration activities are 
conducted on private land. Perilya takes 
responsibility for working with landholders 
to maintain and rehabilitate the land during 
and after exploration has taken place. 

supporting community health 
and safety initiatives

Perilya’s commitment to supporting the 
communities in which we operate extends 
to being part of a range of community 
health and safety initiatives. In 2005/06, 
examples included:

> conducting first aid training for senior 
students at local high schools and 
classes to raise fire fighting awareness

> providing financial support to the Royal 
Flying Doctor Service

> deploying the emergency response 
team in the community when Broken 
Hill experienced a destructive storm in 
December 2005.
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people
Perilya employs approximately 625 people 

in Broken Hill, Kalgoorlie and Perth.  

All of our operations are residential, as 

opposed to fly-in fly-out and thus are more 

stable. Our Broken Hill mine is the major 

employer, with 557 employees and around 

200 contractors. 

integrating education 
with business

One of the greatest barriers the resource 

industry currently faces is operational 

constraints from a lack of skilled and 

trained people.  

We work with learning centres to develop 

structured industry training and draw 

individuals from the communities 

surrounding our operations.  

This year, 24 apprentices were employed 

throughout our operations, which is eight 

more than the previous year. Sixteen 

university graduates also participated in 

structured workplace programs. 

A nationally accredited framework for mine 

training, supported by online guides and 

manuals, was introduced during the year.

engaging employees

Our focus is on people. This year, we 

implemented a leadership approach to 

engaging meaningfully with our employees, 

contractors and unions on a day-to-day 

basis. Structured processes were used to 

further develop the leadership capability of 

all managers and supervisors (see section 

on building capability page 22).  

Other programs that have built closer 

relationships between employees and 

management, bringing greater alignment, 

include the business improvement 

program (see page 24), which relies on 

employee input for success, and the design 

and development of a new employee 

engagement system.  

work and family

The implementation of several work-lifestyle 

initiatives has helped to promote diversity 

in the workplace, including apprenticeships 

and graduate recruitment programs to 

attract and develop young people within 

the company.

Perilya recognises the importance of a 

work lifestyle balance for the ongoing 

wellbeing of our employees and their 

families. To promote this balance, we have 

implemented a range of initiatives that 

provide support and flexibility to meet 

family and work commitments. 

Examples include:

> a working roster of five days on, five 

days off for underground operations 

and trade employees

> provision of residential housing for a 

number of employees and their families

> flexible and part time work 

arrangements where appropriate

> a confidential counselling service available 

to all employees and their families.

 

GAINING AN APPRENTICESHIP WITH PERILYA IS A COMPETITIVE PROCESS. THIS YEAR, OUR FIRST 
YEAR APPRENTICES CITED PERILYA AS THEIR FIRST CHOICE DUE TO TRAINING EXCELLENCE, FAMILY 
ASSOCIATION WITH THE OPERATION AND BEING KNOWN AS PROVIDING A SAFE ENVIRONMENT.
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board of directors

Patrick O’Connor
B.Com, SEP Stanford Executive 
Program (USA), FAICD 

Chairman, 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Patrick was appointed Chairman on 1 February 
2006. He is Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit and 
Risk Management and HS&E Committees. 
Patrick is a fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Directors and attended the Stanford 
Executive Program at Stanford University, 
California, USA.

Patrick was the founder and Managing 
Director of Macraes Mining Company Limited 
from 1989 to 1998. Patrick is currently one 
of the founders and executives of St george 
Capital Pty Ltd, a boutique investment 
manager, and an executive of Sg growth 
Equities Limited. Patrick is also a non-
executive Chairman of Xceed Biotechnology 
Limited and a non-executive director of 
Adelphi Energy Limited and the Water 
Corporation of Western Australia.

Age: 43

Current Directorships
 Chairman: Xceed Biotechnology Limited
 Executive Chairman: Sg growth 

Equities Limited
 Director: Adelphi Energy Limited
 Director: Water Corporation of 

Western Australia

Former Directorships over the past three years
 Director: Oceana gold Limited
 Chairman: Acuron Limited

Len Jubber 
B.Civil Eng, MBA 

Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer since 16 May 2005, 
Len is an engineer with a post graduate 
degree in business administration and 
over 16 years experience in the minerals 
industry. He spent seven years with Oceana 
gold Limited, ultimately becoming the Chief 
Operating Officer and an Executive Director. 
Prior to Oceana gold, Len spent eight years 
in Southern Africa with Rossing Uranium 
Limited, a subsidiary of Rio Tinto.

Age: 46

Current Directorships
 Director: Southstar Diamonds Limited

Former Directorships over the past three years
 Executive Director: Oceana gold Limited

Phillip Lockyer
AWASM, DIPMETALL, M.SC

Independent Non-Executive Director

Phillip was appointed non-executive director 
on 19 November 2003 and was the company’s 
Chairman until 1 February 2006. Phillip is 
Chairman of HS&E Committee and a member 
of both the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Phillip is a mining engineer and metallurgist 
with more than 40 years experience in 
the minerals industry with an emphasis 
on gold and nickel, in both underground 
and open pit mining operations. Phillip 
spent 20 years with WMC Resources and 
held the position of general Manager for 
WA, responsible for that company’s nickel 
division and gold operations.

Age: 62  

Current Directorships
 Director: Jubilee Mines NL
 Director: Ammtec Limited
 Director: Focus Minerals Limited
 Director: MERIWA

Former Directorships over the past three years
 Nil
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guy Travis
AWASM, MSc, DIC 

Independent Non-Executive Director

guy was appointed non-executive director 
on 5 October 2002.

A geologist by profession, guy spent his 
first 18 years in the industry with Western 
Mining Corporation, before forming a 
geological consulting and contracting 
company Aurex Pty Ltd. He was Managing 
Director of Ranger Minerals Limited from 
its incorporation in 1984 to its merger with 
Perilya in October 2002.

Age: 64

Current Directorships
 Director: Southstar Diamonds Limited

Former Directorships over the past three years
 Nil

Peter Harley 
B.Comm, FCPA, FAICD 

Independent Non-Executive Director

Peter was appointed non-executive director 
on 19 November 2003. He is Chairman of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Peter is a qualified accountant with more 
than 30 years experience in a range of 
diverse industries and a fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Directors. Peter is 
a director of gunson Resources Limited, 
Blaze International Limited and Chairman 
of iiNet Limited a leading internet service 
provider.

Age: 56

Current Directorships
 Chairman: iiNet Limited
 Director: gunson Resources Limited
 Director: Blaze International Limited

Former Directorships over the past three years
 Nil

Chang keun Choi 
B. Eng, Master of Eng, MBA 

Non-Executive Director

Chang Keun Choi was appointed non-
executive director on 27 April 2005.

Chang Keun Choi holds a Bachelor of 
Engineering in Mining Engineering, a 
Masters of Engineering and an MBA. 
He is currently Vice Chairman of the Korea 
Zinc Company Limited which, together 
with Young Poong Corporation Ltd, holds 
approximately 10% of the issued share 
capital of Perilya Limited.

Age: 59

Current Directorships
 Director: Korea Zinc Company Limited
 Director: Sorin Corporation Ltd

Former Directorships over the past three years
 Nil
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	 	 	 TOnnES	 ZInC	 LEAd	 SILVER	 GOLd	 COPPER	 AddITIOnAL		
	 	  ‘000 % % g/t g/t %	 nOTES

Broken Hill Total as at 30 June 2006

Resources Southern Operation Measured 9,471 10.2 7.8 74.9   1, 2 
  Indicated 2,621 10.0 6.7 66.1
  Inferred 689 8.9 9.3 99.4
  Total 12,781 10.1 7.7 74.4

 North Mine Measured 57 5.8 6.1 80.5 
  Indicated 79 5.6 5.4 90.1 
  Inferred 158 6.5 6.1 99.0
  Total 294 6.1 5.9 93.2

 North Mine Deeps Inferred 4,200 11.2 13.7 214.0

 Potosi Nth & Extended Indicated 78 12.1 7.3 68.0
  Inferred 1,535 13.0 2.9 41.8
  Total 1,613 11.6 3.6 46.5 

 Flying Doctor Inferred 326 4.8 6.2 63.1  

 Total Resource Measured 9,528 10.2 7.8 74.9   
  Indicated 3,104 9.4 6.6 66.4
  Inferred 6,583 11.3 10.5 159.1
  Total 19,214 10.4 8.5 102.4

Reserves Southern Operation      
 Long Hole Open Stope Proved 7,685 7.0 3.9 43.3   1
  Probable 2,421 6.7 3.5 38.0
  Sub total 10,106 6.9 3.8 42.0

 Pillar Proved 1,399 9.8 11.4 85.6 
  Probable 135 8.9 11.0 82.9 
  Sub total 1,534 9.7 11.4 85.4 

 Total Southern Operation Proved 9,084 7.4 5.1 49.8 
  Probable 2,555 6.8 3.9 40.4
  Total 11,640 7.3 4.8 47.7 

 North Mine Proved 47 5.1 4.9 71.9  
  Probable 22 5.3 4.7 68.0
  Total 69 5.2 4.8 70.6 

 Total Reserve Proved 9,131 7.4 5.1 49.9 
  Probable 2,578 6.8 3.9 40.6
  Total 11,709 7.3 4.8 47.9 

Daisy Milano as at 30 June 2006        3, 4

Resources  Indicated 243    26.2
  Inferred 56    28.1
  Total 299    26.5

Flinders as at 5 September 2006        5, 6

Resources  Indicated 436 33.6 4.1 
  Inferred 515 29.0 1.0
  Total 951 31.1 2.4

Moyagee as at 30 June 2006        7, 8

Resources  Inferred 820    8.5

Mount Oxide as at 30 June 2006        9, 10

Resources  Inferred 3,700     2.7

Resources and Reserves
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve
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Broken Hill

1. The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves is based on information compiled by Mr Christopher Mroczek and Mr Jared Broome, both full-time 
employees of the company. Mr Broome is a Member of the Australian Institute of geoscientists and Mr Mroczek is a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

2. Estimation of Mineral Resources used a combined lead and zinc boundary cut-off grade of 8% for the North Mine and 7% for all other Mineral Resources. Ordinary Kriging was used 
as the grade interpolation technique for lead, zinc and silver at the Southern Operation. Inverse Distance Weighting (one) was used at the North Mine, North Deeps, Potosi and 
Flying Doctor. All interpolations were done inside three dimensional wireframe models.

Daisy Milano

3. The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Mr Brendan Bradley who was a full-time employee of the company. Mr Bradley is a 
Member of the Australian Institute of geoscientists.

4. Estimation of Mineral Resources used a 1.0g/t Au cut-off grade, a 320g/t Au top-cut grade below the 15 Level and 250g/t Au above the 15 Level, with Inverse Distance Weighting 
(Cubed) as an interpolation technique inside three-dimensional wireframe models.

Flinders

5. The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Ms Michelle Wild and Mr Jeffrey Ion. Ms Wild is employed by Wildfire Resources 
Pty Limited and Mr Ion is a full-time employee of Perilya Limited. Both are Members of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

6. Estimation of Mineral Resources used a 10% zinc cut-off grade. A combination of Inverse Distance Weighting interpolation techniques inside three-dimensional wireframe models, or 
sectional estimation methods, was used.

Moyagee

7. The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Mr Brendan Bradley who was a full-time employee of the company. Mr Bradley is 
a Member of the Australian Institute of geoscientists.

8. Estimation of Mineral Resources used a 1.0g/t Au cut-off grade for the potential open pit resource, a 9 gram-metre and 3g/t Au cut-off grade for the potential underground resource, 
and a 40g/t Au top-cut grade. Sectional method estimation was used for this resource.

Mount Oxide

9. The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Mr David Williams and Mr Jeffrey Ion. Mr Williams is employed by FinOre Mining 
Consultants and Mr Ion is a full-time employee of Perilya Limited. Both are Members of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

10. Estimation of Mineral Resources used a 1% Cu cut-off grade with Ordinary Kriging as an interpolation technique inside three-dimensional wireframe models. Top-cut grades were 
domain-based and ranged from 5-26% Cu.

All of the above persons have sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity they are undertaking to 
qualify as Competent Persons as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. All of them consent to 
the inclusion in the report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in which it appears.

Table of all diamond drilling completed in the 2k-zone area.

HOLE_Id	 FROM	 TO	 wIdTH	 TRuE	wIdTH*	 Pb	%	 Ag	PPM	 Zn	%	 MIdPOInT	x	 MIdPOInT	y	 MIdPOInT	Z	 CORE	SIZE

2212B 646.6 646.8 0.2 0.2 NSV NSV NSV 547206.2 6466187.0 8216.7 NQ2

2220 726.0 729.8 3.8 1.3 NSV NSV NSV 547265.2 6465844.2 8147.6 NQ2

2214A 822.0 826.9 4.9 1.2 NSV NSV NSV 547359.8 6465518.3 8205.3 NQ2

2211J 831.1 837.6 6.5 6.1 27.2 375.8 29.1 547307.5 6465647.2 8127.4 NQ2

2211B 848.0 864.1 16.1 15.6 10.8 227.4 10.2 547293.6 6465654.3 8086.0 NQ2

2211g 860.2 875.0 14.8 13.7 NSV NSV NSV 547272.6 6465713.0 8060.1 NQ2

2211C 859.4 863.4 4.0 3.8 15.4 289.9 13.7 547292.6 6465644.2 8072.5 NQ2

2211D 877.2 895.0 17.8 15.6 15.7 360.9 13.4 547297.4 6465644.1 8039.6 NQ2

2211E 919.8 931.5 11.7 10.0 NSV NSV NSV 547310.9 6465570.2 8013.8 NQ2

2217B 1052.0 1060.0 8.0 5.5 NSV NSV NSV 547378.5 6465345.7 8061.5 NQ2

*  True width determined from geological orientation

The area known as the 2K zone is located within CML5, 300 metres to the northeast of the Fitzpatrick (North Mine Deeps) Mineral Resource. Pasminco Limited tested the 2K zone with 
diamond drilling from 1982 to 1989. Mineralisation occurs as a narrow, steeply dipping zone of high-grade lead- and zinc-rich sulphides within retrogressed metasedimentary rock beneath 
and to the west of the steep dipping Western shear zone. Diamond drill holes are of NQ2 and BQ diameter, drilled with standard tube and sampled by diamond saw cutting with half core 
being analysed. Core logging included lithological and structural logging. geotechnical logging, RQD and recovery measurements are not available. Collars were surveyed after drilling 
and down-hole surveys were taken using a multi-shot camera. The assay method used was AAS but the detection limit and quality assurance methods are not known. There is no known 
verification or auditing of sampling and assaying. Assay aggregates are weighted on length and do not extend through internal waste (less than 8% combined lead and zinc) intervals of 
more than 2.5 metres.

Additional Notes 
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Production
	 unIT	OF	MEASuRE	 2005/06	 	 2004/05	 2003/04	 2002/03	 2001/02

Zinc tonnes 144,100  132,000 140,400 144,600 NA

Lead tonnes 74,800  61,100 54,200 54,600 NA

Silver ‘000 oz 2,100  1,900 1,700 1,450 NA

gold ‘000 oz 27,298  4,827 - - NA

Financial
	 	 	 	 AIFRS	 AGAAP	 	 	 	
	 	 	 2005/06	 2004/05	 2004/05	 2003/04	 2002/03	 2001/02

Net profit/(loss) after tax  $’000 67,006 (6,110) (4,713) 12,887 (105) (264)

Revenue  $’000 344,969 193,156 191,111 157,726 12,158 4,668

Cash flow from operating activities  $’000 166,039 30,161 30,161 8,712 (7,596) (6,929)

Cash and cash equivalents  $’000 135,608 21,610 21,610 40,695 34,755 14,329

Total assets  $’000 341,964 186,856 187,735 193,401 168,696 124,384

Borrowings   $’000 7,070 12,625 12,625 35,789 26,943 Nil

Shareholder equity  $’000 131,421 116,275 115,353 98,824 84,095 45,623

Exploration and evaluation expenditure  $’000 7,750 19,267 19,267 13,571 4,384 3,933

Capital expenditure  $’000 44,545 48,083 48,083 29,040 10,648 87,821

Basic earnings per share  cents 35.6 (3.6) (2.8) 8.0 (0.1) (0.3)

Dividends  cents 5.0 - - - - -

Issued capital - shares  ‘000 191,047 186,522 186,522 164,020 159,385 102,424

Share Price 30 June         2.39       0.68  0.68 0.87 0.44 0.74

5 year summary

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX 

  +$73.1
million

BAsIC EARNINgs 

  +39.2
cents per share

TOTAL ZINC PRODuCTION 

  9.2%
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PERILYA LIMITED

ABN 85 009 193 695

concise financial report
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Relationship of the concise financial 
report to the full financial report

The concise financial report is an extract from 
the full financial report for the year ended 
30 June 2006. The financial statements and 
specific disclosures included in the concise 
financial report have been derived from the 
full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be 
expected to provide as full an understanding 
of the financial performance, financial 
position and financing and investing 
activities of Perilya Limited and its 
subsidiaries as the full financial report. 

Further financial information can be obtained 
from the full financial report which, along 
with the auditor’s report, will be sent to 
members on request, free of charge. 

To obtain a copy of the full financial report 
and the auditor’s report thereon, please call: 
+ 61 8 6210-2000 (within Australia 
08 6210-2000) or email perilya@perilya.com.au 
and a copy will be forwarded to you. 
Alternately, you can access both the full 
financial report and the concise report via 
the News and Reports section on our 
website: www.perilya.com.au.
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity comprising Perilya Limited (“Perilya” or “the Company”) and its controlled 
entities (“the consolidated entity”) for the year ended 30 June 2006 (“the financial year”). Perilya is a company limited by shares that is 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

DIRECToRs
The Directors of Perilya Limited throughout the entire year and up to the date for this report were :

NAmE	 	 PositioN		 	 	 	 iNdEPENdENt	 	 First	APPoiNtEd

Patrick O’Connor   Chairman    Yes  1 February 2006
Len Jubber    Chief Executive Officer   No  16 May 2005
Chang Keun Choi   Non-Executive Director   No  27 April 2005
Peter Harley   Non-Executive Director   Yes  19 November 2003
Phillip Lockyer   Non-Executive Director   Yes  19 November 2003
Guy Travis    Non-Executive Director   Yes  5 October 2002
Colin McIntyre (resigned 23 Nov 2005)   Non-Executive Director   Yes  16 June 2003

InfoRMATIon of DIRECToRs
Particulars on the skills, experience, expertise and responsibilities of each Director at the date of this report, including all Directorships of 
other listed companies held or previously held by a Director at any time in the past three years, are set out on page 32 of this report.

CoMMITTEE MEMbERshIP
As at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit & Risk Management Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Health, Safety 
and Environment (HS&E) Committee of the Board of Directors. Directors acting on these committees of the Board during the year were:

Audit	&	risk	mANAGEmENt	CommittEE	 	 rEmuNErAtioN	CommittEE	 	 	 	 Hs&E	CommittEE	(1)	 	

Peter Harley (Chairman)   Patrick O’Connor (Chairman) (appointed 1 Feb 2006)  Phillip Lockyer (Chairman)
Phillip Lockyer (appointed 22 Dec 05)   Peter Harley      Len Jubber 
Patrick O’Connor (appointed 1 Feb 06)  Phillip Lockyer       Patrick O’Connor 
Guy Travis (ceased 4 Mar 06)   Guy Travis (23 Nov 05 to 10 Jan 06) 
Colin McIntyre (resigned 23 Nov 2005)  Colin McIntyre (resigned 23 Nov 05) 

(1)  The HS&E committee was formed on 28 April 2006.

DIRECToRs’ ATTEnDAnCE AT MEETInGs
Particulars of the number of meetings of the Board of Directors of Perilya and each Board committee of Directors held and attended by 
each Director during the 12 months ended 30 June 2006 are set out below:

	 BoArd	mEEtiNGs	 	 	 BoArd	CommittEE	mEEtiNGs	
	 	  AuDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT REMuNERATION HS&E 
   COMMITTEE COMMITTEE COMMITTEE

 A b   A b  A b  A b

Patrick O’Connor 6 6   2 2  1 1  1 1
Len Jubber 16 16   - -  - -  1 1
Chang Keun Choi 3 16   - -  - -  - -
Peter Harley 15 16   5 5  2 2  - -
Phillip Lockyer 15 16   3 3  2 2  1 1
Guy Travis  14 16   3 4  1 1  - -
Colin McIntyre  6 7   2 2  - -  - -

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the relevant committee during the year.

directors’ report
30 June 2006
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DIRECToRs’ shAREhoLDInGs 
The relevant interests of each Director in the ordinary shares and options in Perilya Limited at the date of this report are:

	 																													Fully	PAid	ordiNAry	sHArEs	 	 	 oPtioNs	ovEr	ordiNAry	sHArEs	
	 BENEfICIAL, PRIvATE 
2006 COmPANy OR TRUST OwN NAmE OPTIONS  ExERCISE PRICE ExPIRy DATE 

Patrick O’Connor - - - - -

Len Jubber (1) 131,088 - 5,000,000 3,000,000 @ $1.01 3,000,000 on 16 May 2010
    1,000,000 @ $1.13 1,000,000 on 16 May 2011
    1,000,000 @ $1.26 1,000,000 on 16 May 2012

Chang Keun Choi (2) - - - - -

Peter Harley 15,000 - - - -

Phillip Lockyer 20,000 - - - -

Guy Travis (3)  3,830,229 - - - -

(1) Options issued to Mr Jubber on 31 May 2005, under the terms of the Perilya Employee Share Option Plan as approved by shareholders in November 2003. 
(2)  Mr C K Choi is a shareholder of Young Poong Corporation and a director and shareholder of Korea Zinc Company Limited, who hold in aggregate 10% of the voting capital of Perilya. 

Mr C K Choi’s interests are not regarded as relevant interests for the purposes of disclosure.
(3)  Mr Travis is one of three Directors and a shareholder of Aurex Pty Ltd, which holds 1,169,358 shares in Perilya. The whole of Aurex’s shareholding in Perilya has been disclosed as relevant interest. 

However, Mr Travis has disclosed that he is the beneficiary of only 1/3rd of those shares. In addition Mr Travis is a director and a beneficiary of Lyrebird Pty Ltd which holds 2,660,871 shares in Perilya.

CoMPAnY sECRETARY
The Company Secretary and Group Manager Legal is Darryl Edwards, BCom, FCIS.

Darryl was appointed on 7 March 2006, as the Company Secretary and Group Manager Legal. He is a qualified Company Secretary, a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a member of the Western Australian State Council of Chartered Secretaries 
Australia. He has over 15 years experience in Company Secretarial roles and before joining Perilya held senior positions with a number of 
large and small ASX listed companies. 

PRInCIPAL ACTIvITIEs
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year consisted of zinc, lead, gold and silver mining, mineral 
exploration and investment activities.

ConsoLIDATED REsuLTs
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2006	 	 	 2005	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $m	 	  $m

Consolidated entity profit/(loss) attributable to members of Perilya    67.0   (6.1)

DIvIDEnDs
A fully franked interim dividend of 1.0 cent per share was paid to shareholders on 7 April 2006.

Since the end of the financial year the Directors have declared the payment of a fully franked final dividend of 4.0 cents per share to be 
paid to shareholders on 2 October 2006. The record date for determining entitlement to this final dividend was 14 September 2006. 

There were no dividends declared or paid for the 2005 financial year.

REvIEw of oPERATIons AnD REsuLTs
The consolidated entity’s financial performance benefited from high metal prices and improved operational efficiencies. Key performance 
details include:

• $67.0 million full year net profit after tax (2005: $6.1 million loss) after a $13.3 million (after tax) write down of the Daisy Milano gold mine.

• Fully franked final dividend of four cents per share; total annual dividend of five cents per share (2005: nil).

• $161.6 million in cash and receivables at 30 June 2006 (30 June 2005: $33.3 million). Debt of $7.1 million (30 June 2005: $12.6 million).

• Net cash flow from operations of $166.0 million (2005: $30.2 million).

• Broken Hill zinc production up 9.2 per cent and lead up 22.4 per cent on the previous year.

directors’ report
30 June 2006



PERILYA LIMITED 2006 CONCISE ANNUAL REPORT40

fInAnCIAL PERfoRMAnCE
The consolidated entity recorded a $67.0 
million (2005: $6.1 million loss) net profit 
after tax, or 35.6 cents per share, for the 
year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: 3.6 cents 
per share loss). Revenues increased by 
$152.0 million to $345.0 million. The 
increase in revenue and profitability was 
principally due to higher zinc and lead 
prices combined with higher zinc and lead 
production from the Broken Hill operations.

The profit result includes a $19.0 million 
pre tax write down of the Daisy Milano 
asset value ($13.3 million after tax). 
This follows a review of the carrying value 
of the project at current production levels 
and operating efficiencies.  

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation (“EBITDA”) increased by 
870.8 per cent over the previous year from 
$13.7 million to $133.0 million.

bRokEn hILL
Broken Hill zinc production was up 9.2 
per cent to 144,100 tonnes (2005: 132,000 
tonnes) and lead production was 22.4 per 
cent higher at 74,800 tonnes (2005: 61,100 
tonnes). Production increases were largely 
due to increased mill throughput.

Total direct operating cost increases at 
Broken Hill were limited to only 4.5 per 
cent (compared to 2005) with gains in 
mine scheduling efficiency and increased 
productivity offsetting global operating 
cost pressures.

CAsh fLow
The net cash flow for 2006 increased 
$132.1 million to $113.0 million from a net 
cash outflow of $19.1 million the previous 
year.

Operating cash flows included an amount 
of $46.8 million from the sale of future 
silver production from the Broken Hill 
operation in September 2005. Significant 
expenditures included the payment of the 
outstanding deferred acquisition liability 
of $30.1 million, mine properties and 
development expenditure of $29.8 million, 
capital expenditures of $11.7 million and 
$5.6 million on exploration.

bRokEn hILL – DEfERRED 
ACquIsITIon PAYMEnTs
During the financial year, the $55.0 million 
deferred acquisition liability associated 
with the purchase of the Broken Hill mine in 
2002, was settled in full following payment 
of the outstanding $30.1 million. This 
liability was paid for out of the operational 
cash flows from Broken Hill and was settled 
four years ahead of schedule.

bALAnCE shEET
Cash and receivables at year end totaled 
$161.6 million (2005: $33.3 million).

The Company has total borrowings of 
$7.1 million (2005: $12.6 million), 
comprising mobile equipment finance 
leases and short-term insurance premium 
funding.

shARE CAPITAL
During the financial year the Company 
issued 4,525,000 shares as a result of the 
exercise of unlisted employee options.  
Accordingly the total share capital at the 
end of the financial year was 191,047,239 
shares (2005: 186,522,239 shares).

objECTIvEs, sTRATEGY AnD RIsks
Perilya’s aim is to become a significant 
diversified mining Company that provides 
consistent returns to shareholders and 
benefits to all stakeholders. The Company 
strives to operate in a manner which 
ensures the health and safety of its people, 
the integrity of the environment in which 
it operates, and the highest standards of 
corporate governance.

During the financial year, Perilya’s 
operational structure was modified to 
clarify the alignment and responsibilities 
of senior management.  The new 
organisational structure is aimed at 
simplifying and focusing our attention on 
the key functions that drive our business 
objectives:

• Creating a sustainable future;

• Strategically building the capability of 
our people and systems; and

• Delivering positive financial and 
operational performance.

LIkELY DEvELoPMEnTs 
AnD ExPECTED REsuLTs of 
oPERATIons
Operationally, the outlook is for 
continuing strong production and financial 
performance.  Production levels for the 
2007 financial year at Broken Hill are 
expected to be similar to that of 2006.  

The Company will be reviewing its gold 
assets with the view to developing a 
strategy to maximise their value and 
contribution to Perilya’s growth plans.

Further information about the likely 
developments in the operations of the 
consolidated entity and the expected results 
of those operations in future financial 
years has not been included in this report 
because disclosure of the information 
would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the consolidated entity.

sIGnIfICAnT ChAnGEs In ThE 
sTATE of AffAIRs
Significant changes in the state of affairs 
of the group during the financial year were 
as follows:

• An increase in contributed equity of 
$3.7 million (from $99.3 million to 
$103.0 million) mainly as a result of the 
issue of 4,525,000 fully paid ordinary 
shares at an average price of $0.67 
each on the exercise of options;

• Net cash flow of $113.0 million 
resulting in cash and receivables at 
30 June 2006 of $161.6 million.

• The finalisation of the deferred 
acquisition payments of $55.0 million 
related to the acquisition of Broken Hill 
from Pasminco Limited (Administrators) 
in 2002; and

• The sale of 17.2 million ounces of silver 
production for an upfront part payment 
of $46.8 million in September 2005. 
A further uS$6 million, contingent 
upon Perilya achieving agreed 
minimum production levels, will be 
paid in annual increments over the 
next eight years. The Company will also 
receive a further uS$2.31 per ounce of 
silver produced (indexed to CPI). 

directors’ report
30 June 2006
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MATTERs subsEquEnT To ThE EnD of ThE fInAnCIAL YEAR
Apart from the matters disclosed below there has not arisen, in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report, any item, transaction or event of a material or unusual nature which, in the opinion of the Directors has, or may, significantly affect 
the operations or financial position of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity, in future periods.

Gleneagle Gold Limited announced commencement of production from Fortnum Gold Project

As part payment for the Fortnum Gold project sold to Gleneagle Gold Limited (“Gleneagle”) in July 2003, Perilya was to receive $500,000 
upon commencement of production at the Fortnum mine by Gleneagle and, after the first 50,000 ounces of production, a royalty at the rate 
of $10 per ounce, up to a maximum of $2 million. Gleneagle announced that production had commenced in the week beginning 
9 July 2006. The $500,000 payment was received on 21 July 2006 and is not included in the results. 

Dividend declaration

The Directors have declared the payment of a fully franked final dividend of 4 cents per share. The record date for determining entitlement 
was 14 September 2006 and the final dividend is payable on 2 October 2006. 

nuMbER of EMPLoYEEs
As at 30 June 2006, the consolidated entity had 625 employees (30 June 2005: 567 employees).

oPTIons 

Options on Issue

Details of options over unissued shares in Perilya Limited as at the date of this report are set out below:

	 	 	 	 	 ExErCisE	
	 	 NumBEr		 	 	 PriCE	 	 	 GrANt	dAtE	 	 	 ExPiry	dAtE

unlisted Employee Incentive Options  20,000   $0.45   20.11.01   19.11.06
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  150,000   $0.70   16.01.03   31.12.06
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  180,000   $0.97   18.06.04   21.05.09
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  200,000   $0.88   20.08.04   20.08.09
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  445,000   $1.00 / $1.20 / $1.40  01.09.04   09.08.09
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  3,000,000   $1.01   31.05.05   16.05.10
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  1,000,000   $1.13   31.05.05   16.05.11
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  1,000,000   $1.26   31.05.05   16.05.12
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  600,000   $1.31   17.03.06   09.01.11
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  200,000   $1.47   17.03.06   09.01.12
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  200,000   $1.64   17.03.06   09.01.13
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  200,000   $1.80   17.03.06   09.01.14
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  300,000   $2.38   28.03.06   07.03.11
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  100,000   $2.67   28.03.06   07.03.12
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  100,000   $2.97   28.03.06   07.03.13
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  300,000   $3.46   14.08.06   17.07.11
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  100,000   $3.89   14.08.06   17.07.12
unlisted Employee Incentive Options  100,000   $4.32   14.08.06   17.07.13

  8,195,000   

Since the end of the financial year 500,000 options have been granted with exercise prices of between $3.46 and $4.32 per share.

Options exercised

During the financial period 4,525,000 options were exercised and 4,525,000 ordinary shares in Perilya Limited were issued for a consideration 
of $3,048,000. Since the end of the financial year, a further 275,000 options have been exercised at an average price of $1.06 per share.

Options forfeited

During or since the end of the financial period 1,650,000 options were forfeited.

Options expired or lapsed

Since the end of the financial period 25,000 options have expired or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Employee Share Option Plan.

directors’ report
30 June 2006



PERILYA LIMITED 2006 CONCISE ANNUAL REPORT42

InsuRAnCE of offICERs
During or since the end of the period, 
the Company has paid premiums of 
$87,734 in respect of a contract to insure 
Directors and officers of the consolidated 
entity against liabilities incurred in the 
performance of their duties.

The officers of the group covered by the 
insurance policy include any person acting 
in the course of duties for the consolidated 
entity who is, or was, a Director, executive 
officer, or a senior manager within the 
consolidated entity. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs 
that may be incurred in defending civil or 
criminal proceedings that may be brought 
against the officers, in their capacity as 
officers, of entities in the Group, and any 
other payments arising from liabilities 
incurred by the officers in connection with 
such proceedings. This does not include 
such liabilities that arise from conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty by the 
officers or the improper use by the officers 
of their position or of information to gain 
advantage for themselves or someone else 
or to cause detriment to the company. 
It is not possible to apportion the premium 
between amounts relating to the insurance 
against legal costs and those relating to 
other liabilities.

EnvIRonMEnT REGuLATIons
The Company’s Australian operations are 
subject to various Commonwealth and 
State laws governing the protection of 
the environment in areas such as air and 
water quality, waste emission and disposal, 
environmental impact assessments, 
mine rehabilitation and access to, and 
use of, ground water. In particular, some 
operations are required to be licensed 
to conduct certain activities under the 
environmental protection legislation of 
the State in which they operate and such 
licenses include requirements specific to 
the subject site.

So far as the Directors are aware, there 
have been no material breaches of 
the Company’s licenses and all mining 
and exploration activities have been 
undertaken in compliance with the relevant 
environmental regulations.

RIsk AnD ConTRoL CoMPLIAnCE
The Directors have implemented internal 
control processes for identifying, 
evaluating and managing significant risks 
to the achievement of the Company’s 

objectives. These internal control processes 
cover financial and operational risks. The 
Company’s corporate governance practices 
are outlined further in the Company’s 
Corporate Governance Statement included 
in this report.

The Directors have received and considered 
a certification from the Chief Executive 
Officer and the General Manager Finance 
in respect of the integrity of the financial 
statements, risk management and internal 
compliance and control systems, and to 
the extent they relate to financial reporting 
they are, in all material respects, operating 
effectively. It must be recognised, that even 
well designed, implemented and monitored 
controls can only provide a level of 
assurance of achieving the desired control 
objectives. Assurance control systems have 
inherent limitations and no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance 
that all issues have been detected.

PRoCEEDInGs on bEhALf of 
ThE ConsoLIDATED EnTITY
At the date of this report there are no leave 
applications or proceedings brought on 
behalf of the consolidated entity under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

non-AuDIT sERvICEs
In accordance with the Company’s 
External Auditor Policy and Guidelines, 
the Company may decide to engage the 
external auditor on assignments additional 
to their statutory audit duties where the 
auditor’s expertise and experience with the 
consolidated entity are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable 
to the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the financial year are set out in note 8 
on page 68 of the concise financial report.

The Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of the non-auditing services 
detailed in note 8 of the concise financial 
report were compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
Also the Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of these non-audit services did 
not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
because:

• they have no reason to question the 
veracity of the auditor’s independence 
declaration referred to in the section 
immediately following this section of 
the report; and

• the nature of the non-audit services 
provided is not inconsistent with 
those requirements.

AuDIToR’s InDEPEnDEnCE 
DECLARATIon
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues as 
external auditor in accordance with 
section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
The auditor’s independence declaration 
as required under section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 
53 and forms part of this report.

REMunERATIon REPoRT
The Remuneration Report summarises the 
key remuneration policies for the reporting 
period, highlights the link between pay 
and corporate performance, and provides 
detailed information on the remuneration 
practices for the key management 
personnel of Perilya Limited and its 
controlled entities (“the Group”) in office 
during the financial year and until the date 
of this report.

The remuneration report has been set out 
under the following main headings:

A Key management personnel

B Principles used to determine the 
nature and amount of remuneration

C Details of remuneration for the key 
management personnel

D Contracts for key management 
personnel

E Share-based compensation

F Relationship between remuneration 
and Perilya performance

G Additional information

The information provided under sections A 
to E includes remuneration disclosures that 
are required under accounting standard 
AASB124 Related Party Disclosures. These 
disclosures have been transferred from 
the financial statements which have been 
audited. The disclosures in section F and G 
are required by the Corporations Act 2001 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001, 
which have not been audited.
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A. key Management Personnel (audited)

Key management personnel of Perilya Limited and its controlled entities include the Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and those 
executives that report directly to the Chief Executive Officer. 

Directors

The Directors of Perilya Limited during 2006 are set out below in Table 1.

Table 1: The Directors of Perilya during 2006

NAmE	 PositioN	 	 	 PEriod	
     (If LESS ThAN ThE ENTIRE PERIOD)

Executive Director
Len Jubber  Managing Director/CEO 

Non- Executive Directors
Patrick O’Connor Chairman   Appointed - 1 February 2006
Chang Keun Choi   Director (Non-Executive) 
Peter Harley   Director (Non-Executive) 
Phillip Lockyer (1)  Director (Non-Executive) 
Guy Travis     Director (Non-Executive) 
Colin McIntyre  Director (Non-Executive) Resigned - 23 November 2005

(1) Mr Lockyer held the position of non-executive Chairman until 1 February 2006.

Executives

The executives (other than the Executive Director) of Perilya Limited and its controlled entities during 2006 are set out below in Table 2.

Table 2: Executives (other than the Executive Director) during 2006

NAmE	 PositioN	 	 	 	 	 PEriod	
      (If LESS ThAN ThE ENTIRE PERIOD)

Tim Carstens  General Manager - Corporate Development  Commenced - 7 November 2005
Ron Ellis Mine Manager, Daisy Milano  
Tim Manners General Manager - Finance    Commenced - 7 March 2006
Rob Scargill General Manager - Broken Hill    Commenced - 22 November 2005

Former Executives:
Paul Cranney Exploration Manager     Resigned - 25 November 2005
Alan Knights Chief Financial Officer     Resigned - 18 November 2005
Barry Mitchell General Manager - Broken Hill    Resigned - 6 January 2006
John Traicos Company Secretary     Retrenched -  31 October 2005

b. Principles used To Determine the nature and Amount of Remuneration (audited)

Remuneration Committee

Perilya’s Remuneration Committee is responsible for evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and monitoring 
performance of the executive team. The Board also determines the remuneration of the CEO and approves the remuneration of those 
executives reporting directly to the CEO.

The Remuneration Committee works to ensure that the Company has remuneration policies and practices that fairly, responsibly and 
competitively reward executives. The committees decisions on reward structures are based on the current competitive environment for 
high calibre executives and employees generally and high standards of governance.
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Remuneration Policy and Principles

The Board recognises that Perilya’s 
performance is dependent on the quality 
of its people. To achieve its financial and 
operating objectives, Perilya must be 
able to attract, retain and motivate highly 
capable people.  

Perilya’s executive remuneration policy and 
principles have been designed to ensure 
that Perilya:

• provides competitive rewards that 
attract, retain and motivate executives 
of the highest calibre;

• sets demanding levels of performance 
which are clearly linked to an 
executive’s remuneration;

• structures remuneration at a level that 
reflects the executive’s duties and 
accountabilities;

• sets a competitive level of 
remuneration that is sufficient and 
reasonable;

• aligns executive incentive rewards with 
the creation of value for shareholders; and

• complies with applicable legal 
requirements and appropriate 
standards of governance.

Perilya’s desire to remunerate executives 
fairly and responsibly is achieved by 
ensuring that:

• there is a clear relationship between 
the performance of Perilya, individual 
performance and remuneration;

• the policy underlying executive 
remuneration is openly communicated 
to, and understood by, executives; and

• the approach to executive remuneration 
demonstrates continuity and 
consistency with minimum exceptions.

Executive remuneration is reviewed 
annually having regard to both individual 
and business performance measures.

Remuneration structure of the CEo and 
senior Executives

Perilya’s remuneration structure for the 
CEO and senior executives is divided into 
two principal components:

• Fixed annual reward; and

• Variable annual reward, which includes 
a short-term incentive (“STI”) and a 
long-term incentive (“LTI”).

Fixed Annual Reward

The fixed annual reward component 
of executive remuneration comprises 
base salary, statutory superannuation 
contributions and other allowances such as 

housing (where applicable), motor vehicle 
and health insurance. It is determined by 
the scope of each executive’s role, level of 
knowledge, skill and experience along with 
their individual performance.

Perilya annually reviews and benchmarks 
this component of executive remuneration 
against appropriate market comparisons 
using information and advice from 
external consultants.

Variable Annual Reward

Executives may receive a variable annual 
reward, based on an assessment of their 
individual performance and Perilya’s overall 
performance. These assessments are 
conducted, for senior executives, by the 
CEO and approved by the Remuneration 
Committee. The performance assessment 
for the CEO is conducted by the Board 
with assistance from the Remuneration 
Committee.

Each senior executive’s variable annual 
reward allocation will comprise both a STI 
and a LTI:

• short-term incentive component (sTI):

 The short-term incentive component 
of an executive’s annual remuneration 
is between 16% and 30% of their 
base salary and is available to be paid 
in cash following an assessment of 
performance of both Perilya and the 
individual executive for the past year.

 The Board sets a series of key 
performance indicators (“KPI’s”) for 
Perilya which are linked to Perilya’s 
business principles, budget and 
business plan and external indicators.  
The degree to which these KPI’s are 
achieved determines the size of the 
short-term incentive distribution to 
executives.

• Long-term incentive component 
(LTI) comprising:

 Options – under the Perilya Limited 
Employee Share Option Plan (approved 
by shareholders in November 2003):

 Options over Perilya Limited shares 
have been granted to the CEO, 
executives and a number of managers as 
a means of linking their remuneration to 
the returns provided to shareholders. 
The exercise price of options have been 
set at a minimum of 20%, and up to 
65%, above the weighted average price 
at which Perilya’s shares are traded on 
the Australian Stock Exchange during a 
five trading day period. 

The options are granted with an average 
life of 5 years and are exercisable in one 
to four annual tranches (depending on 
the terms of their grant). The options 
which have not vested are forfeited if 
the executive leaves the employment of 
Perilya. In special circumstances, such as 
retirement or retrenchment, an executive 
will be allowed, subject to Board approval, 
to retain the options. The options carry no 
dividend or voting rights. 

Remuneration structure of 
non-Executive Directors

Remuneration Policy

The Board recognises that, in order to 
achieve Perilya’s financial and operating 
objectives, Perilya must be able to attract, 
retain and motivate talented non-executive 
Directors.

Perilya’s non-executive Director 
remuneration policy aims to reward non-
executive Directors fairly and responsibly 
having regard to:

• the level of fees paid to Directors 
relative to other comparative sized 
Australian mining companies;

• the size and complexity of Perilya’s 
operations; and

• the responsibilities and work 
requirements of individual Board 
members.

Fees paid to non-executive Directors 
of Perilya are recommended by the 
Remuneration Committee based on advice 
from external remuneration consultants 
and determined by the Board, subject 
to the aggregate limit of $400,000 
approved by shareholders at the 2002 
Annual General Meeting. It is proposed 
to seek shareholder approval at the 2006 
Annual General Meeting to increase the 
aggregate limit to $500,000, to provide 
the Board with the flexibility to increase 
the size of the Board if necessary. There 
is no proposed increase in individual 
non-executive Directors fees for the 2007 
financial year.
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C. Details of Remuneration for the key Management Personnel (audited)

non-Executive Directors

Remuneration Payable

Non-executive Director’s remuneration consists only of base fees, committee fees and superannuation contributions, details of which are 
set in Table 3 below. Fees payable to non-executive Directors are reviewed annually and fixed by the Board.  

Board fees are not paid to Executive Directors as the time spent on Board work and the responsibilities of Board membership are 
considered in determining the remuneration package provided as part of their normal employment conditions.

Table 3 – Annual Board and Committee Fees payable to non-executive Directors

PositioN	 	 	 ANNuAl	FEEs	uP	 ANNuAl	FEEs	From	
	 	 	 to	30	JuNE	2006	 1	July	2007	
   $ $

Chairman of the Board   110,000 110,000
Non-Executive Director   50,000 50,000
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management committee 12,000 12,000
Member of a Board Committee   5,000 5,000

The total remuneration which was paid to each non-executive Director in 2006 is set out below in Table 4.

Table 4 – Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

NAmE	 PositioN	 	 	 dirECtor	FEEs	 BoArd	 otHEr	 suPErANNuAtioN	 totAl	
	 	 	 	 	 CommittEE	FEEs	   
    $ $ $ $ $

Non - Executive Directors      

Patrick O’Connor (1) Chairman     
2006    45,833 4,167 - 4,500 54,500
2005    - - - - -

Chang Keun Choi  Director (Non-Executive)     
2006    50,000 - - 4,500 54,500
2005    8,333 - - 750 9,083

Peter Harley  Director (Non-Executive)     
2006    50,000 17,000 - 6,030 73,030
2005    50,000 17,000 - 6,030 73,030

Phillip Lockyer (2) Director (Non-Executive)     
2006    30,833 7,500 - 41,184 79,517
2005 (3)    57,750 5,000 163,750 47,340 273,840

Guy Travis    Director (Non-Executive)     
2006    50,000 5,000 - 4,950 59,950
2005    50,000 5,000 - 4,950 59,950

Colin McIntyre (4)  Director (Non-Executive)     
2006    22,917 2,083 - 2,250 27,250
2005    50,000 10,000 - 5,400 65,400

Total      
2006    249,583 35,750 - 63,414 348,747
2005    216,083 37,000 163,750 64,470 481,303

(1)   Mr Patrick O’Connor was appointed Chairman on 1 February 2006.
(2)   Mr Phillip Lockyer held the position of Chairman of the Board until Mr O’Connor’s appointment. 

Mr Lockyer’s superannuation includes an amount of $37,734, which has been salary sacrificed from the base Directors fees (2005: $38,250).
(3)  In the 2005 Financial Year Mr Lockyer received consultancy fees of $163,750.
(4)   Mr Colin McIntyre resigned as a director on 23 November 2005.
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Executive Director

At the date of this report the CEO, Mr Len 
Jubber, is the only Executive Director of 
the Board.

Employment Contract

Mr Jubber was appointed as Perilya’s CEO 
and Managing Director with effect from 
16 May 2005. Mr Jubber’s employment 
contract with Perilya is for an undefined term.

under his employment contract, Mr Jubber:

• receives an annual salary;

• participates in the Employee Share 
Option Plan and Employee Share 
Acquisition Plan (subject to the matters 
described in more detail below); and 

• receives superannuation and other 
benefits available to Perilya executives 
and employees.

The details of Mr Jubber’s remuneration are 
described below and set out in Table 5. 
A summary of the contractual provisions 
for Mr Jubber’s employment contract is set 
out below.

Remuneration Payable

The remuneration provisions of Mr Jubber’s 
employment contract as it applied for 2006 
provided for:

• A fixed annual reward: Mr Jubber’s fixed 
remuneration was set at $475,000 
per annum, plus 9% superannuation, 
and is subject to annual review in 
accordance with his employment 
contract;

• Short-term incentive component: 
comprises a cash payment of up to 
16% of fixed annual reward based 
on Perilya’s performance, the CEO’s 
individual performance and Board 
discretion. For the period ending 30 
June 2006, the Board determined 
that the CEO’s short-term incentive 
payment would be $87,083, which is 
16% of the fixed annual reward specified 
in his employment contract for the 
period from 16 May 2005 to 30 June 
2006. The payment was based on 
performance against objectives and the 
Board’s exercise of discretion. Payment 
occurred subsequent to the end of the 
financial year; and

• Long-term incentive: On 31 May 
2005, Mr Jubber received a long-term 
incentive comprising of 5,000,000 
options, which were granted to Mr 
Jubber on his appointment as CEO.  
The options vest in three tranches over 
4 years and expire three years after the 

vesting date. The exercise prices are 
set between $1.01 and $1.26 per share, 
which was based on the then weighted 
average share price plus a premium of 
between 20% and 50%. The options 
vest immediately there is a change of 
control in Perilya. Any unvested options 
lapse on cessation of employment, 
unless otherwise approved by the 
Board or under special circumstances 
such as retirement or redundancy. 
Further details of the options are set 
out in Tables 8 through to 15.

Remuneration provisions of Mr Jubber’s 
employment contract for the 2007 financial 
year have not yet been determined by 
the Board. The Board has engaged an 
external remuneration consultant to 
review the remuneration structure and STI 
performance criteria for Mr Jubber.

In accordance with the terms of the 
Company’s Employee Share Acquisition 
Plan (refer page 52 for more details), 
under the terms of an offer made in August 
2006, Mr Jubber was entitled to receive 
a one-off issue of shares to the value of 
$47,500 and a further amount of shares 
up to a maximum of $47,500 subject to 
Mr Jubber contributing an equal amount 
of up to $47,500 to acquire Perilya 
shares. All shares acquired for the benefit 
of Mr Jubber are purchased on-market 
and in accordance with the terms of the 
Company’s Employee Share Acquisition 
Plan. The offer is consistent with that 
offered to all employees in the Perilya 
Group and restrictions of up to 2 years 
apply to all shares acquired by Mr Jubber 
under the plan.

Termination

Mr Jubber’s employment contract may be 
terminated by:

• Mr Jubber at any time during the term 
of the agreement on giving six months 
notice;

• Perilya, immediately in the event 
of serious misconduct or in other 
nominated circumstances; or

• Perilya, at any time during the term of 
the agreement on sixth month giving 
written notice.

key Management Personnel (excluding 
non-executive Directors)

Remuneration Paid

The total remuneration paid to key 
management personnel (excluding non-
executive Directors) in 2006 is set out in 
Table 5 below. Data in this table includes 
the 5 group executives who received the 
highest remuneration for the year ending 
30 June 2006.
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Table 5 – Key Management Personnel Remuneration (excluding non-executive Directors)

NAmE	 	sHort-tErm	EmPloyEE	BENEFits	 	 	 Post-EmPloymENt	 	 	 lti	(4)	 	 totAl

	 CASh SALARy   INCENTIvE  NON- TERmINATION  SUPER-  fAIR vALUE Of   
 & fEES   BONUS  mONETARy PAymENTS  ANNUATION  LONg-TERm    
   PAymENTS (3)        INCENTIvE 
          OPTIONS  
 $  $  $ $  $  $   $

Perilya Limited       

Executive Directors       

Len Jubber (1)          
2006 475,000  87,083  53,307  -  42,750  579,756  1,237,896 
2005 69,271  -  -  -  6,234  13,465  88,970
Tim Clifton (2) (resigned)           
2006 -  -  -  -  -  -  -
2005 358,506  -  -  295,696  36,063  -  690,265

Senior Executives       

Tim Carstens 
(appointed 7 Nov 2005)       
2006 166,136  29,074  1,291  -  14,952  77,668  289,121
2005 -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Tim Manners 
(appointed 7 March 2006)       
2006 84,461  14,781  806  -  7,601  46,484  154,133
2005 -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Paul Cranney (resigned)       
2006 205,583  -  4,915  11,537  6,470  2,084  230,589
2005 193,762  -  8,800  -  17,439  19,505  239,506

Alan Knights (resigned)       
2006 156,769  -  545  -  8,345  7,801  173,460
2005 287,203  -  -  -  25,848  60,166  373,217

John Traicos (retrenched)       
2006 71,340  -  485  265,299  22,908  25,520  385,552
2005 184,020  -  -  -  95,924  40,661  320,605

Perilya Limited total       
2006 1,159,289  130,938  61,349  276,836  103,026  739,313  2,470,751
2005 1,092,762  -  8,800  295,696  181,508  133,797  1,712,563

Controlled Entities       

Ron Ellis       
2006 193,847  -  6,184  -  17,446  18,113  235,590
2005 177,500  -  -  -  15,975  51,565  245,040

Rob Scargill
(appointed 22 Nov 2005)       
2006 137,538  24,069  519  -  12,378  77,668  252,172
2005 -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Barry Mitchell (resigned)       
2006 186,711  -  2,310  -  14,334  3,853  207,208
2005 293,578  -  -  -  26,422  98,867  418,867

Consolidated entity total       
2006 1,677,385  155,007  70,362  276,836  147,184  838,947  3,165,721
2005 1,563,840  -  8,800  295,696  223,905  284,229  2,376,470

(1)    Mr Len Jubber was appointed as Managing Director and CEO on 16 May 2005. Non-monetary benefits relating to Mr Len Jubber comprise mainly of one-off relocation benefits of $51,532.

(2)   Mr Tim Clifton resigned as Managing Director on 16 May 2005. Termination payments were paid in July 2006 and included an amount of $141,620 for accrued annual leave and long service leave.

(3)   Short-term incentives for the year ending 2006 were paid in September 2006. The amount of short-term incentive has been included in the 2006 remuneration numbers above.

(4)    Options were allocated to key management personnel based on their role and the ability to influence the performance of the Company. The option remuneration value listed represents the 
amortisation applicable to the 2006 financial year of the assessed fair value of the options granted prior to or during the year and which vest during or after, the 2006 financial year.   

 The assessed fair value at grant date of options is amortised on a straight line basis over the period from grant date to vesting date. This amount is included in the remuneration disclosed 
above. Fair values at grant date are determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance 
criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the current price and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free 
interest rate for the term of the option.
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Short-term and long term incentives - 2006

For the period ending 30 June 2006, the amount of short-term incentive payment payable to executives was based on performance against 
financial, operating and/or individual objectives and the exercise of discretion by the Board. Payments occurred subsequent to the end of 
the financial year but are included in the above remuneration disclosed in Table 5.

Table 6 shows the components of remuneration for the 2006 year for the key management personnel (employed as at 30 June 2006) with 
data drawn from the remuneration disclosed in Table 5.

Table 6 – Key Management Personnel Remuneration Breakdown

NAmE		ANd	JoB	titlE	 	 	 	 	 	FixEd	rEmuNErAtioN%	 	 sti	%	 	 	 lti	%

Len Jubber - CEO      46%   7%   47%
Tim Carstens – GM Corporate Development     63%   10%   27%
Ron Ellis – Mine Manager, Daisy Milano      92%   -   8%
Tim Manners – GM Finance      60%   10%   30%
Rob Scargill – GM Broken Hill      59%   10%   31%

D. Contracts for key Management Personnel (audited)

A summary of the key contractual provisions for each of the current key management personnel (excluding non-executive Directors) is set 
out in Table 7 below.

Table 7 - Contractual Provisions for Key Management Personnel

NAmE	ANd	JoB	titlE	 EmPloyiNG	 	 CoNtrACt	 	 NotiCE		 	 mAximum	 	 NotiCE	 	tErmiNAtioN	ProvisioN	(1)	
	 ComPANy		 	 durAtioN	 	 PEriod		 	 sti		 	 PEriod		 	
	 	 	 	 	 ComPANy	 	 	 	 EmPloyEE

Len Jubber – Perilya  No fixed  6 months  16% of fixed  6 months  No entitlement to 
CEO/Managing Director Limited  term and    annual    termination payment other 
   reviewed    reward    than payment of accrued 
   annually        leave. If the position   
           becomes redundant 
           Mr Jubber is entitled to a  
           payment of 1 year’s annual  
          salary and  entitled to retain 
          all options subject to   
          continuing  vesting terms 
           and expiry dates.  

 
Tim Carstens – Perilya  No fixed  3 months  30% of fixed  3 months  No entitlement to 
GM Corporate Development Limited  term and    annual    termination payment 
   reviewed    reward    other than payment 
   annually         of accrued leave. 

Ron Ellis – Perilya  No fixed  2 months  -  2 months  No entitlement to 
Mine Manager, Daisy Milano  term and        termination payment 
Daisy Milano Pty Ltd  reviewed        other than payment 
   annually        of accrued leave.

Tim Manners – Perilya  No fixed  3 months  30% of fixed  3 months  No entitlement to 
GM Finance Limited  term and    annual    termination payment 
   reviewed    reward    other than payment 
   annually        of accrued leave.

Rob Scargill – Perilya  No fixed  1 month  30% of fixed  1 month  No entitlement to 
GM Broken Hill Broken Hill  term and    annual    termination payment 
 Limited  reviewed    reward    other than payment 
   annually        of accrued leave.
(1) If the position of an executive becomes redundant they are entitled to statutory payments in lieu of notice and subject to Board approval, entitled to retain all options, on continuing vesting terms 

and expiry dates.  
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In addition to the above contractual terms Messrs, Jubber, Scargill, Carstens and Manners employment contracts provided for each 
to receive a LTI component, being the grant of options on commencement of employment. The options were granted with an exercise 
price set at a minimum of 20%, and up to 65%, above the weighted average price at which Perilya’s shares traded on the Australian 
Stock Exchange during the five trading days immediately before the date of the employee commencing employment or the date of the 
remuneration committee meeting that agrees the issue of options. 

The options are granted with an average life of 5 years and are exercisable in three to four annual tranches (depending on the terms of 
their grant). Options which have not vested are forfeited if the executive leaves the employment of Perilya. In special circumstances, such 
as retirement or retrenchment, an executive will be allowed, subject to Board approval, to retain the options. The options carry no dividend 
or voting rights. Details of the options are set out in Table 10 below.

E. share-based Compensation (audited) 

Employee Share Option Plan – approved by shareholders in November 2003

As part of the performance incentive scheme, options over Perilya Limited shares are granted to the CEO, key management personnel and 
senior managers under the terms of the Perilya Limited Employee Share Option Plan, for no consideration. 

Options are granted with an average life of 5 years commencing from the grant date and generally vest, and are exercisable, in three to 
four annual tranches (depending on the terms of grant). 

The exercise price of options have been set at a minimum of 20%, and up to 65%, above the weighted average price at which the 
Company’s shares traded on the Australian Stock Exchange during the five trading days immediately before the date of the employee 
commencing employment, or the date of the remuneration committee meeting that agrees the issue of options. 

Further details on the plan are set out in the remuneration structure detailed on page 44 of this report.

The number of options granted and exercised by the executive director and key management personnel during the financial year, are set 
out below in Table 8 (2005: see Table 9 below):

Table 8 – Movement of Options Granted to Key Management Personnel during 2006

NAmE	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	 GrANtEd	duriNG	 ExErCisEd	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	 vEstEd	duriNG	 vEstEd	ANd	
	 stArt	oF	tHE	yEAr	 	tHE	yEAr	As	 	duriNG	tHE	yEAr	 ENd	oF	tHE	yEAr	 tHE	yEAr	 ExErCisABlE	At	tHE	
	 	 rEmuNErAtioN	 		 	 		 ENd	oF	tHE	yEAr

Len Jubber  5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 - -
Tim Carstens - 600,000 - 600,000 - -
Ron Ellis 400,000 - (150,000) 250,000 150,000 75,000
Tim Manners - 500,000 - 500,000 - -
Rob Scargill - 600,000 - 600,000 - -

Total 5,400,000 1,700,000 (150,000) 6,950,000 150,000 75,000

No non-executive Directors held options during the financial year ended 30 June 2006.

Table  9 – Movement of Options Granted to Key Management Personnel during 2005

NAmE	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	 GrANtEd	duriNG	 ExErCisEd	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	 vEstEd	duriNG	 vEstEd	ANd	
	 stArt	oF	tHE	yEAr	 	tHE	yEAr	As	 	duriNG	tHE	yEAr	 ENd	oF	tHE	yEAr	 tHE	yEAr	 ExErCisABlE	At	tHE	
	 	 rEmuNErAtioN	 		 	 		 ENd	oF	tHE	yEAr

Len Jubber  - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - -
Tim Clifton 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Paul Cranney - 250,000 - 250,000 - -
Ron Ellis 150,000 250,000 - 400,000 75,000 75,000
Alan Knights 400,000 500,000 - 900,000 150,000 250,000
Barry Mitchell 500,000 500,000 - 1,000,000 400,000 400,000
John Traicos 300,000 250,000 - 550,000 150,000 150,000

Total 3,350,000 6,750,000 - 10,100,000 775,000 2,875,000

No non-executive Directors held options during the financial year ended 30 June 2005.
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The terms and conditions of options over Perilya Limited shares, affecting the remuneration of the key management personnel in office at 
the end of the reporting period in this or future reporting periods, are set out below in Table 10.

Table 10 – Options Terms Granted to Key Management Personnel as at 30 June 2006

NAmE	 oPtioNs	 GrANt	dAtE	 ExErCisE	PriCE	 FAir	vAluE	 vEstiNG	 NumBEr	 ExPiry	
	 	 	 	 PEr	oPtioN	At	 dAtE	 oF	sHArEs	 dAtE	
	 	 	 	 GrANt	dAtE	 	 issuEd	oN	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 ExErCisE	oF	
	 	 	 	 	 	 oPtioNs

Len Jubber  5,000,000 31 May 2005 3,000,000 @ $1.01 $0.27 16 May 2007 - 16 May 2010
   1,000,000 @ $1.13 $0.28 16 May 2008 - 16 May 2011
   1,000,000 @ $1.26 $0.29 16 May 2009 - 16 May 2012

Tim Carstens (1) 600,000 17 Mar 2006 300,000 @ $1.31 $1.01    9 Jan 2008 - 9 Jan 2011
   100,000 @ $1.47 $1.00    9 Jan 2009 - 9 Jan 2012
   100,000 @ $1.64 $0.99    9 Jan 2010 - 9 Jan 2013
   100,000 @ $1.80 $0.99    9 Jan 2011 - 9 Jan 2014

Ron Ellis 150,000 18 June 2004 75,000 @ $0.97 $0.27 21 May 2005 75,000 21 May 2009
   75,000 @ $0.97 $0.27 21 May 2006 - 21 May 2009
 250,000 1 Sept 2004 75,000 @ $1.00 $0.16    9 Aug 2005 75,000 9 Aug 2009
   75,000 @ $1.20 $0.12    9 Aug 2006 - 9 Aug 2009
   100,000 @ $1.40 $0.09    9 Aug 2007 - 9 Aug 2009

Tim Manners (2) 500,000 28 Mar 2006 300,000 @ $2.38 $0.78 7 Mar 2008 - 7 Mar 2011
   100,000 @ $2.67 $0.81    7 Mar 2009 - 7 Mar 2012
   100,000 @ $2.97 $0.82    7 Mar 2010 - 7 Mar 2013

Rob Scargill (1) 600,000 17 Mar 2006 300,000 @ $1.31 $1.01   9 Jan 2008 - 9 Jan 2011
   100,000 @ $1.47  $1.00    9 Jan 2009 - 9 Jan 2012
   100,000 @ $1.64 $0.99    9 Jan 2010 - 9 Jan 2013
   100,000 @ $1.80 $0.99    9 Jan 2011 - 9 Jan 2014

(1) The exercise price was based on a premium of 20% to 65% above the 5 day weighted average of the closing price of Perilya’s share price on the ASX as at 9 January 2006, being the date the 
Remuneration Committee approved the offer to Messrs Scargill and Carstens.

(2) The exercise price was based on a premium of 20% to 50% above the 5 day weighted average of the closing price of Perilya’s share price on the ASX as at 7 March 2006, being the date the 
Board approved the offer to Mr Manners.

Further details relating to options and the portion of key management personnel remuneration (excluding non-executive Directors) related 
to equity compensation in the 2006 year are set out below in Table 11.

Table 11 – Value of Options as at 30 June 2006

NAmE	 PErCENtAGE	oF	 																								vAluE	oF	oPtioNs	GrANtEd,	ExErCisEd	or	lAPsEd	iN	12	moNtHs	ENdEd	30	JuNE	2006	
	 rEmuNErAtioN	CoNsistiNG	 	 gRANTED (1) ExERCISED LAPSED TOTAL 
	 oF	oPtioNs	 	 	 $ $ $ $

Len Jubber 47%   - - - -
Tim Carstens 27%   603,000 - - 603,000
Ron Ellis 8%   - 147,750 - 147,750
Tim Manners 30%   395,800 - - 395,800
Rob Scargill 31%   603,000 - - 603,000

(1)  Value at time of grant

Perilya Limited Employee Share Acquisition Plan

The Perilya Limited Employee Share Acquisition Plan was implemented in August 2006. Accordingly, no shares were purchased for the 
benefit of the key management personnel during the financial year ending 30 June 2006.

f. Relationship between Remuneration and Perilya Performance (unaudited)

The Remuneration Committee and the Board continually seek to strengthen the link between executive remuneration and the Company’s 
short and long term performance.  

The short term performance component takes into account a number of internal and external factors relevant to the executives 
performance and the overall performance of Perilya. Given Perilya’s results and performance can be significantly impacted by movements 
in both commodity prices and exchange rates, the impact of these factors is taken into account in determining the amount of an 
executive’s short term incentive payments.

In determining the long-term performance component of the CEO and the senior executives, and more recently the wider employee base, the 
Employee Share Option Plan and the Employee Share Acquisition Plan are an integral part of Perilya’s overall approach to competitive performance 
based remuneration. Both the Employee Share Option Plan and the Employee Share Acquisition Plan aim to align employees’ and shareholders’ 
interests, thus strengthening the ownership and commitment to our future success, and attracting and retaining high calibre people. 
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Perilya’s performance during 2006 and the four previous years are set out in Table 12 below.

Table 12 – Perilya’s Financial Performance for the Past 5 Years

yEAr	ENdEd	30	JuNE	 	 	 	 	 2006	 	 2005	 	 2004	 	 2003	 	 2002

Net Profit after tax ($m)     67.0  (6.1)  12.9  (0.3)  (0.3)
Earnings per share (cents)     35.6  (3.6)  8.0  (0.1)  (0.3)
Dividends per share (cents) (1)     5.0  -  -  -  -
Dividend Pay Out Ratio (%)     14.0  -  -  -  -
Market capitalisation ($m)     456.0  127.0  143.0  70.0  76.0
Closing Share Price ($)     2.39  0.68  0.87  0.44  0.74

(1)  Dividends include dividends declared at year end.

G. Additional Information (unaudited)

Details of remuneration: Cash bonus and options

For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the above tables, the percentage of the available bonus or grant that was paid, or 
that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person did not meet the services and performance 
criteria, is set out below in Table 13. The maximum value of options yet to vest has been determined based on the portion of the grant date 
fair value that has not been expensed as at reporting date. That is, the amount that will be expensed in future years for each tranche of 
options granted.

Table 13 – Cash Bonus and Options to Key Personnel

NAmE																																				CAsH	BoNus	 	 	 	 oPtioNs	
	 	 	 yEAR vESTED IN fORfEITED /  fINANCIAL yEAR IN mINImUm mAxImUm 
   gRANTED 2005/06 CANCELLED  whICh OPTIONS TOTAL vALUE Of TOTAL vALUE 
 PAID fORfEITED   IN 2005/06 mAy vEST fOR gRANT yET Of gRANT yET 
      UNvESTED OPTIONS  TO vEST TO vEST 
  % % yR % % yR $ $

Len Jubber        
2006 100% -  -  -  -  -  -  -
2005 - -  2005  -  -  2007  nil  360,316
          2008  nil  178,275
          2009  nil  212,837

Tim Carstens        
2006 58% 42%  2006  -  -  2008  nil  252,219
2005 - -        2009  nil  89,465
          2010  nil  90,616
          2011  nil  93,032

Ron Ellis        
2006 - -  -  -  -  -  -  -
2005 - -  2005  30%  -  2007  nil  496
          2008  nil  3,248
    2004  50%  -  -  -  -

Tim Manners        
2006 58% 42%  2006  -  -  2008  nil  199,728
2005 - -        2009  nil  73,643
          2010  nil  75,945

Rob Scargill        
2006 58% 42%  2006  -  -  2008  nil  252,219
2005 - -        2009  nil  89,465
          2010  nil  90,616
          2011  nil  93,032
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Ordinary Shareholdings of the key management personnel (excluding non-executive Directors)

Details of Perilya ordinary shares held by each of the group’s key management personnel (excluding non-executive Directors) in office at 
the end of the reporting period are set out below in Table 14 (2005: see Table 15 below)

Details of shareholdings of non-executive Directors are set out on page 39 of this report.

Table 14 – Shareholdings of key management personnel at 30 June 2006

NAmE	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	 NumBEr	rECEivEd	oN	 otHEr	CHANGEs	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	
	 stArt	oF	tHE	yEAr	 ExErCisE	oF	oPtioNs	 duriNG	tHE	yEAr		 ENd	oF	tHE	yEAr

Len Jubber 50,000 - 65,000 115,000
Tim Carstens - - - -
Ron Ellis - 150,000 (150,000) -
Tim Manners - - 7,500 7,500
Rob Scargill - - - -

Table 15 – Shareholdings of key management personnel at 30 June 2005

NAmE	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	 NumBEr	rECEivEd	oN	 otHEr	CHANGEs	 BAlANCE	At	tHE	
	 stArt	oF	tHE	yEAr	 ExErCisE	oF	oPtioNs	 duriNG	tHE	yEAr		 ENd	oF	tHE	yEAr

Len Jubber - - 50,000 50,000
Paul Cranney (1) 900,000 - (900,000) -
Ron Ellis - - - -
Alan Knights (1) 100,000 - - 100,000
Barry Mitchell (1) - - - -
John Traicos (2) 300,000 - (200,000) 100,000

(1) These executives resigned in the 2006 year.
(2) Mr Traicos was retrenched in the 2006 year.

Shares - under the Perilya Limited Employee Share Acquisition Plan:

The CEO, senior executives and the wider employee base are eligible to participate in the Perilya Employee Share Acquisition Plan 
(“ESAP”). The ESAP, which was implemented subsequent to the end of the financial year, aims to align employee’s and shareholders’ interests 
and to provide all employees with part ownership in Perilya. Furthermore, it provides for all employees to participate in the Company’s 
development and when coupled with our capability building program, will strengthen individual commitment towards positioning Perilya for 
sustainable long term growth.

under the terms of the ESAP, participating employees (present and future) are issued with a once-off free issue of shares, equal to 10% 
of their annual salary.  In addition, if an employee wishes to purchase additional shares by way of salary sacrifice, Perilya will match the 
employee’s contributions, dollar for dollar, up to a further 10% of the employee’s annual salary. At the date of this report 99% of Perilya’s 
employees participate in the ESAP and over 57% have elected to purchase additional shares, each month, by way of salary sacrifice. 

Shares acquired in the ESAP are subject to restrictions of up to two years from the date of purchase. Shares which have not met the 
vesting conditions (other than shares purchased using an employee’s before-tax salary contributions) are forfeited if the employee leaves 
Perilya.

All shares acquired under the ESAP are held by the plan’s Trustee, CPu Share Plans Pty Ltd (and managed by Computershare Limited) for 
the benefit of employees.  All shares acquired in the plan are purchased on-market by the Trustee.

The ESAP complies with the Investment and Financial Services Association (IFSA) Guidance Note on Executive Share and Option Schemes.

RounDInG of AMounTs

The Company is a Company of the kind referred to in Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class Order 98/0100. Amounts 
shown in the Financial Report and this Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, except where otherwise 
required, in accordance with that class order.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

 

 

Leonard s. jubber 
Managing Director

Perth, Western Australia 
29 September 2006
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Auditors’ Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Perilya Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006, 
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit for the reporting period other 
than a contravention covered by ASIC Class Order 05/910; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation 
to the audit for the reporting period. 

This declaration is in respect of Perilya Limited and the entities it controlled 
during the period.

David j smith
Partner, PricewaterhouseCoopers

Perth, 29 September 2006
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This statement reports on Perilya’s key 
governance principles and practices. 
These principles and practices are reviewed 
regularly and revised as appropriate to 
reflect changes in law and best practice in 
corporate governance.

Asx PRInCIPLEs of GooD 
CoRPoRATE GovERnAnCE
Perilya, as a listed entity, must comply 
with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cwtth) 
(“Corporations Act”), the Australian Stock 
Exchange Limited (“ASX”) Listing Rules 
(“ASX Listing Rules”) and other 
Australian laws.

ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3 requires ASX listed 
companies to report on the extent to 
which they have followed the Principles 
of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations (“ASX 
Principles”) released by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council. The ASX Principles 
require the Board to consider carefully the 
development and adoption of appropriate 
corporate governance policies and 
practices founded on the ASX Principles.

CoMPLIAnCE wITh Asx 
PRInCIPLEs of GooD CoRPoRATE 
GovERnAnCE
The Board has recently updated its 
corporate governance policies and 
procedures which reflect best practice 
ASX Principles. Details of the Company’s 
compliance with the ASX Principles are 
set out below and in the ASX Principles 
Compliance Statement (“Compliance 
Statement”) found on pages 58 to 59 
of this report and published on the 
Company’s website www.perilya.com.au

As detailed in this Corporate Governance 
Statement, Perilya considers that its 
governance practices comply with the ASX 
Principles, subject to the qualifications 
noted in the Compliance Statement relating 
to ASX Principle Recommendations 2.4 
and 9.4.  

1. The board of Directors

a) Board Composition and Expertise

The Board has a broad range of relevant 
industry experience, financial and other 
skills and expertise to meet its objectives.

The current Board composition, the 
date they were first appointed and their 
status as non-executive, independent or 
executive Director are set out on page 16.  
Biographical details for each Director are 
set out on pages 14-15 of this report.

b) Board Role and Responsibilities

The roles and responsibilities of the Board 
are formalised in the Board Charter. The 
Board Charter defines in detail the matters 
that are reserved for the Board and its 
committees, and those that the Board has 
delegated to management. The central role 
of the Board is to oversee and approve the 
Company’s strategic direction, to select and 
appoint a Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), 
to oversee the Company’s management 
and business activities and report to 
shareholders.

In addition to matters required by law to 
be approved by the Board, the following 
powers are reserved to the Board for 
decision:

• strategy - providing strategic oversight 
and approving strategic plans, 
initiatives and budgets; 

• board performance and composition 
– evaluating the performance of non-
executive Directors, and determining 
the size and composition of the 
Board as well as recommending to 
shareholders the appointment and 
removal of Directors;

• leadership selection – evaluating the 
performance of, and selection of, the 
CEO and those executives reporting 
directly to the CEO;

• corporate responsibility – considering 
the social, safety, ethical and 
environmental impacts of Perilya’s 
activities, setting standards and 
monitoring compliance with corporate 
and social policies and practices;

• financial performance – approving 
Perilya’s annual budget, monitoring 
management, financial and operational 
performance;

• financial reports to shareholders 
– approving annual and half-year 
reports and disclosures to the market 
that contain or relate to financial 
projections, statements as to future 
financial performance or changes to 
the policy or strategy of the Company; 
and

• establishing procedures – ensuring 
that the Board is in a position to 
exercise its power and to discharge 
its responsibilities as set out in the 
Board Charter;

The Board also recognises its responsibilities 
to Perilya’s employees, the communities 
and environments within which Perilya 
operates and, where relevant, other 
stakeholders.  

Responsibility for management of Perilya’s 
business activities is delegated to the 
CEO who is accountable to the Board.

The Board Charter is available in the 
corporate governance section of 
Perilya’s website.

c) Directors’ Retirement and Re-election

Non-executive Directors must retire at 
the third annual general meeting (“AGM”) 
following their election or their most recent 
re-election.

At least one non-executive Director must 
stand for election at each AGM. Any Director 
appointed to fill a casual vacancy since 
the date of the previous AGM must submit 
themselves to shareholders for election at 
the next AGM. Re-appointment of Directors 
retiring by rotation is not automatic. 

d) Skills, Knowledge and Experience

The Board considers that the non-executive 
Directors collectively bring the range of 
skills, knowledge and experience necessary 
to direct the Company.

In assessing the composition of the 
Board, the Directors have regard to the 
following policy:

• the Chairman should be non-executive 
and independent;

• the role of the Chairman and CEO 
should not be filled by the same person;

• the CEO should be a full-time employee 
of the Company;

• the majority of the Board should 
comprise Directors who are both non-
executive and independent; and

• the Board should represent a broad 
range of qualifications, experience 
and expertise considered of benefit to 
the Company.

e) Board Succession Planning

The Board reviews the size and composition 
of the Board and the mix of existing and 
desired competencies across members at 
least annually.

Criteria considered by the Directors when 
evaluating prospective candidates are 
contained in the Board’s Charter.

f ) Nominations and Appointment of 
New Directors

Recommendations for nomination of new 
Directors are considered by the Board as 
a whole. The ASX Principles indicate that 
the Board should form a Nominations 
Committee, however at this stage of 
Perilya’s development the Board considers 
that it is unnecessary to have a separate 
Nominations Committee.

g) Professional Advice

Directors may, in carrying out their 
Company related duties, seek external 
professional advice.

corporate governance
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corporate governance

If external professional advice is sought, a 
Director is entitled to reimbursement of all 
reasonable costs where such a request for 
advice is approved by the Chairman. 
In the case of a request made by the 
Chairman, approval is required by at least 
two Board members.

h) Director Independence

The Board has approved a Policy on 
Independence of Directors, a copy of which 
is available in the corporate governance 
section of Perilya’s website.

The policy provides that the independence 
of a Director will be assessed by 
determining whether the Director is 
independent of management and free of 
any business or other relationship that 
could materially interfere with, or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially 
interfere with, the exercise of their 
unfettered and independent judgement.

The test of whether a relationship or 
business is material is based on the nature 
of the relationship or business and on 
the circumstances and activities of the 
Director. Materiality is considered from 
the perspective of Perilya, the persons or 
organisations with which the Director has 
an affiliation and from the perspective of 
the Director. Materiality thresholds are 
considered by the Board from time to time.  
The Board considers that:

• a material customer is a customer of 
Perilya which accounts for more than 
5% of Perilya’s consolidated gross 
revenue;

• a supplier is material if Perilya 
accounts for more than 5% of the 
supplier’s consolidated gross revenue;

• a substantial shareholder of Perilya is 
someone who holds greater than 5% 
of the voting capital of Perilya; and

• service on the Board for a period 
exceeding 10 years is a period 
which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with 
a Director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of the Company.

In the event that one or more of these 
thresholds is exceeded, the Board then 
focuses on whether or not in their view 
that impacts materially on the independent 
judgement of the Director.

The Board has considered the associations 
of each of the five non-executive Directors 
in office at the date of this report and 
its determination in relation to their 
independence is set out on page 16 of 
this report.

Non-executive Director, C. K. Choi is not 
considered to be independent as he is both 

an executive and shareholder of Korea 
Zinc Company Limited (“Korea Zinc”) and 
a shareholder in Young Poong Corporation 
(“Young Poong”) both of which are 
substantial shareholders of Perilya. Korea 
Zinc and Young Poong are also significant 
customers of the Company. Board decisions 
on matters that concern Korea Zinc or 
Young Poong and that are considered to 
be a potential conflict of interest for Mr C. 
K. Choi are dealt with under the Directors’ 
conflict of interest guidelines, which are set 
out in the Directors’ Code of Conduct.

i) Conflicts of Interest

In the event that there is, or may be, a 
conflict between the personal or other 
interests of a Director, then the Director with 
an actual or potential conflict of interest in 
relation to a matter before the Board does 
not receive the Board papers relating to that 
matter. When the matter comes before the 
Board for discussion, the Director withdraws 
from the meeting for the period the matter 
is considered and takes no part in the 
discussion or decision-making process.

j) Chairman

The Chairman of the Board, Mr O’Connor, 
is an independent, non-executive Director. 
The Chairman is responsible for leadership 
of the Board, for the efficient organisation 
and conduct of the Board’s function and 
for the promotion of relations between 
Board members and between Board and 
management that are open, cordial and 
conducive to productive co-operation.  
The Chairman’s responsibilities are set out 
in more detail in the Board Charter.

Mr O’Connor is also Chairman of Xceed 
Biotechnology Limited, a director of 
a number of other companies and an 
executive of St George Capital Pty Ltd and 
SG Growth Equities Limited. The Board 
considers that neither his role within 
those companies nor any of his other 
commitments, interfere with the discharge 
of his duties to the Company. The Board 
is satisfied that he commits the time 
necessary to discharge his role effectively.

k) Board Performance Evaluation

The Chairman of the Board is responsible 
for determining the process for evaluating 
Board performance. Evaluations are 
conducted at least annually.

In addition, the performance of the Board 
as a whole and each of its committees 
are reviewed annually against the 
requirements of their respective charters. 
This evaluation process aims to produce 
continuing improvements in Board 
processes and overall efficiency.

The Chairman’s performance is reviewed 
each year by the other members of the 
Board. As Mr O’Connor was appointed on 
1 February 2006, there has been no formal 
review of his performance to date. 

l) Terms of Appointment, Induction 
Training and Continuing Education

All new Directors are provided with a formal 
letter of appointment setting out the key 
terms and conditions of the appointment, 
including duties, rights and responsibilities, 
the time commitment envisaged and 
the Board’s expectations regarding their 
involvement with committee work.

Induction training is provided to all new 
Directors.  It includes comprehensive 
meetings with the CEO, key executives 
and management, and information on 
key corporate and Board policies, visits 
to the Company’s principal operations 
and completion of compulsory safety 
inductions.

All Directors are expected to maintain 
the skills required to discharge their 
obligations to the Company. Directors 
are encouraged to undertake continuing 
professional education and where this 
involves industry seminars and approved 
education courses, this is paid for by the 
Company where appropriate.  

m) Directors’ Remuneration

Details of remuneration paid to Directors 
(executive and non-executive) are set out in 
the Remuneration Report.

n) Board Meetings

During the year ended 30 June 2006, the 
Board held 16 Board meetings. Details of 
Directors’ attendance at these meetings are 
set out in the Directors’ Report.

The Chairman sets the agenda for each 
meeting in conjunction with the CEO and 
the Company Secretary. Any Director may 
request additional matters be added 
to the agenda.  Members of senior 
management attend meetings of the Board 
by invitation and sessions are also held for 
non-executive Directors to meet without 
management present.

Copies of Board papers are circulated in 
advance of the meetings in either electronic 
or hard copy form. Directors are entitled to 
request additional information where they 
consider the information is necessary to 
support informed decision-making.

The Board works to an agenda 
encompassing periodic reviews of Perilya’s 
operating business units, recurring 
statutory obligations, business approvals 
and other responsibilities identified in the 
Board Charter.
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2. board Committees

a) Board Committees and Membership

The Board has established three standing 
committees to assist in the discharge of its 
responsibilities. These are the:

• Audit and Risk Management Committee;

• Remuneration Committee; and

• Health, Safety and Environment 
(“HS&E”) Committee.

The charters of all Board Committees 
detailing the roles and duties of each are 
available in the corporate governance 
section of Perilya’s website. At the date of 
this report membership of each committee 
is as shown above.

All papers considered by the standing 
committees are available on request to 
Directors who are not on that committee.

Minutes of all standing committee meetings 
are provided to all Directors and the 
proceedings of each meeting are reported by 
the Chair of the committee at the next Board 
meeting. The Company Secretary provides 
secretariat services for each committee.

The number of committee meetings held 
during the year, and members’ attendances 
at these meetings, are set out on page 
17 of this report. Other committees are 
convened to address major transactions or 
other matters calling for special attention.

b) Audit and Risk Management Committee

The role of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee is to assist the Board to meet 
its oversight responsibilities in relation 
to the Company’s financial reporting, 
internal control structure, financial risk 
management procedures and the internal 
and external audit function. In doing so, 
it is the committee’s responsibility to 
maintain free and open communication 
between the committee and the external 
auditors and the management of Perilya.

The Audit & Risk Management Committee 
is required to have a minimum of three 
members composed of independent non-
executive Directors. 

The external auditors, the CEO, the General 
Manager Finance and the Group Financial 
Controller attend committee meetings by 
invitation.  The committee meets at least 
four times per year.

c) Remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee is 
to assist the Board in establishing policies 
and practices which:

• enable the Company to attract high 
calibre Directors and to attract, retain 
and motivate employees who achieve 
operational excellence and create value 
for shareholders;

• reward employees fairly and responsibly, 
having regard to the financial results of 
the group, individual performance and 
general remuneration conditions; and

• reflect best practice in people 
development which meets Perilya’s 
business needs.

The CEO attends committee meetings by 
invitation. The committee meets at least 
two times per year.

d) Health, Safety & Environment 
Committee

As part of the continuing development 
of the Company the Board established 
the Health, Safety & Environment 
Committee on 28 April 2006. The role 
of the committee is to assist the Board 
to meet its oversight responsibilities in 
relation to the Company’s health, safety 
and environmental practices. Relevant key 
management attend committee meetings 
by invitation. The committee meets at least 
four times per year.

3. Audit Governance and Independence

a) Approach to Audit and Governance

The Board is committed to the basic 
principles that:

• Perilya’s financial reports represent a 
true and fair view;

• Perilya’s accounting practices are 
comprehensive, relevant and comply 
with applicable accounting standards 
and policies; and

• The external auditor is independent 
and serves shareholders’ interests.

b) External Auditor Relationship

Perilya’s independent external auditor is 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”). PwC 
was appointed by shareholders at the 1988 
annual general meeting in accordance with 
the Corporations Act.

The Board has adopted an External Auditor 
Policy which requires rotation of the audit 

partner at least every five years, prohibits 
the reinvolvement of a previous audit 
partner in the audit service for two years 
following their rotation, and provides that a 
former partner of the audit firm, or member 
of the audit team, may only be recruited 
into a position as a Director or senior 
employee of Perilya after the expiry of at 
least two years.

Furthermore, in accordance with the 
External Auditor Policy, the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee oversees detailed 
External Auditor Guidelines covering the 
terms of engagement of Perilya’s external 
auditor. The guidelines include provisions 
directed to maintaining the independence 
of the external auditor and assessing 
whether the provision of any non-audit 
services by the external auditor that 
may be proposed is appropriate. Such 
provisions are referenced to the Code 
of Ethics published by the International 
Federation of Accountants (“IFAC”).

The External Auditor Guidelines contain 
a set of controls which address threats to 
the independence of the external auditor 
including, in particular, any threat which 
may arise by reason of self-interest, self-
review, advocacy, familiarity or intimidation 
(all terms defined by the IFAC’s Code of 
Ethics). The External Auditor Guidelines 
classify a range of non-audit services which 
are considered not acceptable for provision 
by the external auditor.

In accordance with section 249K of the 
Corporations Act 2001 the external auditor 
attends the annual general meeting in 
their capacity, as auditors to answer 
shareholders’ questions about the conduct 
of the audit and preparation of their 
independent audit report.

4. Controlling and Managing Risk

a) Approach to Risk Management

The Board and senior executives are 
responsible for overseeing the implementation 
of the Company’s Risk Management Policy.

The Company’s approach to risk management 
is based on the identification, assessment, 
monitoring and management of material risks 
embedded in its business and management 
systems. This framework is based on the 
Australian Standards for Risk Management.  

b) Management Assurance

Consistent with ASX Principle 7.2, the CEO 
and General Manager Finance have stated 
in writing to the Board that the Company’s 
financial reports present a true and fair 
view, in all material respects, of the group’s 
financial conditions and operational results 
and are in accordance with the relevant 
accounting standards.

corporate governance
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The CEO and General Manager Finance 
have also stated in writing to the Board 
that the statement they have given relating 
to the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and notes to the financial 
statements, is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal compliance 
and control which implements the policies 
approved by the Board, and that Perilya’s risk 
management and internal compliance and 
control systems, to the extent they relate to 
financial reporting, are operating efficiently 
and effectively in all material respects.

5. Promoting Ethical and Responsible 
behaviour

a) Codes of Conduct

The Board has approved a Code of Conduct 
for Directors and a Code of Conduct for 
Employees which describes the standards 
of ethical behaviour that Directors and 
employees are required to maintain.  

Compliance with the Code of Conduct by 
Directors and employees will also assist 
Perilya in effectively managing its operating 
risks and meeting its legal and compliance 
obligations, as well as enhancing Perilya’s 
corporate reputation.

The Code of Conduct describes Perilya’s 
requirements on matters such as 
confidentiality, conflicts of interest, sound 
employment practices, compliance with 
laws and regulations and the protection 
and proper use of Perilya’s assets.

A copy of each Code of Conduct is available 
in the corporate governance section of 
Perilya’s website.

b) Concern Reporting and Whistleblowing

The Board has approved a Whistleblower 
Policy which documents Perilya’s 
commitment to maintaining an open 
working environment in which employees 
are able to report instances of unethical, 
unlawful or undesirable conduct without 
fear of intimidation or reprisal.

c) Insider Trading Policy and Trading in 
Perilya Shares

Perilya’s Share Trading Policy is binding on all 
Directors and employees. This policy provides 
a brief summary of the law on insider 
trading and other relevant laws, sets out the 
restrictions on dealing in securities by people 
who work for, or are associated with, Perilya 
and is intended to assist in maintaining 
market confidence in the integrity of dealings 
in the Company’s securities.

The policy stipulates that the only appropriate 
time for a Director or employee to deal in 
the Company’s securities is when he or 
she is not in possession of price sensitive 

information that is not generally available to 
the share market. A Director wishing to deal 
in the Company’s securities may only do so 
after first having advised the Chairman 
of his or her intention. A senior executive 
wishing to deal must first notify the CEO.  
Confirmation of any dealing must also be 
given by the Director or senior executive 
within two business days after the 
dealing.  In the case of other employees, 
contractors, consultants and advisers, 
there is no notification requirement.

Directors’ and senior executives’ dealings 
in the Company’s securities are also 
subject to specified closed periods, which 
are set out in the Company’s Share Trading 
Policy or as otherwise determined by the 
Board from time to time.

A copy of the Company’s Share Trading 
Policy is available in the corporate 
governance section of Perilya’s website.

6. Remuneration framework

Details of Perilya’s remuneration framework 
are included in the Remuneration Report.

7. Corporate Responsibility and 
sustainability

Perilya aims to produce positive outcomes 
for all stakeholders in managing its business 
and to maximise financial, social and 
environmental value from our activities.

In practice this means having a commitment 
to transparency, fair dealing, responsible 
treatment of employees and customers and 
positive links to the community.

Sustainable and responsible business 
practices within Perilya are viewed 
as an important long term driver of 
performance and shareholder value.  
Through such practices Perilya seeks to 
reduce operational and reputation risk 
and enhance operational efficiency while 
contributing to a more sustainable society.

Perilya accepts that the responsibilities on 
the Board and management, which flow 
from this approach, go beyond strict legal 
and financial obligations. In particular, the 
Perilya Board seek to take a practical and 
broad view of Directors’ fiduciary duties, in 
line with stakeholder’s expectations.

8. Market Disclosure

Perilya is committed to ensuring that 
shareholders and the share market are 
provided with full and timely information 
and that all stakeholders have equal 
opportunity to receive externally available 
information issued by Perilya.

Perilya’s Continuous Disclosure and Market 
Communications Policy reinforces Perilya’s 
commitment to continuous disclosure and 

outline management’s accountabilities and 
the processes to be followed for ensuring 
compliance. The policy also describes 
Perilya’s guiding principles for market 
communications.

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure and 
Market Communications Policy is available 
in the corporate governance section of 
Perilya’s website.

9. shareholder Communications and 
Participation

The Company’s shareholders play a 
fundamental role in enabling the Company 
to meet its objectives through the election 
or re-election each year of the Directors 
of the Board and their ongoing support as 
investors.

Directors recognise that shareholders, as 
the ultimate owners of the Company, are 
entitled to receive timely and relevant high 
quality information about their investment.  
Similarly, prospective new investors are 
entitled to be able to make informed 
investment decisions when considering the 
purchase of shares in Perilya.

Perilya’s Shareholder Communication Policy 
provides that the Company will communicate 
effectively with its shareholders and give 
shareholders ready access to balanced and 
understandable information about Perilya. 
The way it does this includes:

• ensuring that financial reports are 
prepared in accordance with applicable 
laws and industry best practice;

• ensuring the disclosure of full and timely 
information about Perilya’s activities 
in accordance with the general and 
continuous disclosure principles of the 
ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations 
Act 2001. This includes reporting on 
a quarterly basis the activities and 
prospects of the Company;

• the Chairman and CEO reporting to 
shareholders at the Company’s annual 
general meeting;

• placing all ASX announcements 
(including quarterly reports and 
financial reports) on Perilya’s website 
as soon as practicable following 
release; and

• ensuring that annual reports, notices 
of meeting and other shareholder 
communications are prepared in a clear 
and concise manner.

A copy of the Shareholder Communication 
Policy is available in the corporate 
governance section of Perilya’s website.
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Asx PRInCIPLEs CoMPLIAnCE sTATEMEnT

Asx	CorPorAtE	GovErNANCE	CouNCil’s	BEst	PrACtiCE	rECommENdAtioNs	 rEFErENCE	(1)	 ComPliANCE

Principle 1:  Lay solid foundations for management and oversight  

 1.1  Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated 1b Comply 
  to management. 

Principle 2:  structure the board to add value  

 2.1  A majority of the Board should be independent Directors. 1a, 1h Comply

 2.2  The chairperson should be an independent director. 1j Comply

 2.3  The roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should not be exercised 1a, 1b, 1j Comply 
  by the same individual. 

 2.4  The Board should establish a nomination committee 1f Non-compliant

 2.5  Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 2. 1a,1g,1h, Qualified 
     Directors’ Report Compliance (2)

Principle 3:  Promote ethical and responsible decision-making  

 3.1  Establish a code of conduct to guide the Directors, the chief executive officer 5a,5b Comply 
  (or equivalent), the chief financial officer (or equivalent) and any other key 
  executives as to the:

  • practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity; and

  • responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 
   reports of unethical practices. 

 3.2 Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, officers 5c Comply 
  and employees. 

 3.3  Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3. 5a,5b, 5c Comply

Principle 4:  safeguard integrity in financial reporting  

 4.1  Require the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer 4a,4b Comply 
  (or equivalent) to state in writing to the Board that the Company’s financial reports 
  present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial 
  condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting 
  standards. 

 4.2  The Board should establish an audit committee. 2b Comply

 4.3  Structure the audit committee so that it consists of:

  • only non-executive Directors 2a Comply

  • a majority of independent Directors 2a Comply

  • an independent chairperson who is not chairperson of the Board 2a Comply

  • at least three members 2b Comply

 4.4  The audit committee should have a formal charter. 2a Comply

 4.5  Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on principle 4. 2a, 3b Comply 
     Directors’ Report

Principle 5:  Make timely and balanced disclosure  

 5.1  Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with 8 Comply 
  ASX Listing Rules disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior 
  management level for that compliance. 

 5.2  Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 5. 8 Comply

corporate governance
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Principle 6:  Respect the rights of shareholders  

 6.1  Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication 8,9 Comply 
  with shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings. 

 6.2  Request the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting and be available 3b, 9 Comply 
  to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation 
  and content of the auditor’s report. 

Principle 7:  Recognise and manage risk  

 7.1  The Board or appropriate Board committee should establish policies on risk  2b,4a,4b Comply 
  oversight and management. 

 7.2  The chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer 
  (or equivalent) should state to the Board in writing that:

  • the statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4.1 4b Comply 
   (the integrity of financial statements) is founded on a sound system of risk 
   management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies 
   adopted by the Board. 

  • the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system 4b Comply 
   is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.  

 7.3  Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 7. 4a,4b, Comply 
     Directors’ Report 

Principle 8:  Encourage enhanced performance  

 8.1  Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and 1a,1d,1e,1j,1k, Comply 
  individual Directors and key executives. Remuneration 
     Report

Principle 9:  Remunerate fairly and responsibly  

 9.1  Provide disclosure in relation to the Company’s remuneration policies to enable Remuneration Comply  
  investors to understand (i) the costs and benefits of those policies and (ii) the Report 
  link between remuneration paid to Directors and key executives and corporate 
  performance. 

 9.2  The Board should establish a remuneration committee. 2d Comply

 9.3  Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive Directors’ remuneration from Remuneration Comply 
  that of executives. Report  

 9.4  Ensure that payments of equity-based executive remuneration is made in 
  accordance with thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders:

  • 2003 Employee Share Option Plan Remuneration Comply 
     Report

  • 2006 Employee Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”) Remuneration Qualified 
     Report compliance (3)

 9.5  Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 9. 2d, 6, Comply 
     Remuneration 
     Report, 
     Directors’ Report

Principle 10:  Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders  

 10.1  Establish and disclose a code of conduct to guide compliance with legal and other 5a,5b,5c,5d,7 Comply 
  obligations to legitimate stakeholders. 

(1) The default reference refers to the relevant sections of this Corporate Governance Statement. Reference to the Directors’ Report and the Remuneration Report is shown where applicable. 

(2) ASX principles require that the Nomination Committee Charter be placed on the Company’s web-site. There is no Nomination Committee of the Board of Perilya. A description of Perilya’s 
procedure for selection and appointment of new Directors is set out in the Board Charter, which is available on the Company’s web-site. 

(3) The 2006 Employee Share Acquisition Plan (“ESAP”) was established in August 2006 and is a Company-wide plan available to all employees. Shares purchased under the terms and 
conditions of the ESAP are purchased on-market, by the plan’s Trustee, CPu Share Plans Pty Ltd. Shareholder approval of the ESAP is not required under ASX Listing rules.

corporate governance
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	 	 CoNsolidAtEd
    2006 2005
   NOTES $’000 $’000

Revenue   5 344,969 193,156

Other income    6,600 5,349
Changes in inventories of finished goods & work in progress    6,237 546
Raw materials, power and consumables used    (60,943) (50,542)
Employee benefits expense    (51,116) (45,821)
Depreciation and amortisation expense    (35,820) (20,102)
External services and consultants    (37,118) (28,367)
Freight and handling    (26,189) (22,315)
Royalties    (11,111) (5,366)
Foreign exchange loss    (1,344) -
Price linked payments    - (7,338)
Impairment of mine properties    (18,989) -
Exploration written off    (1,132) (13,715)
Other expenses from ordinary activities    (13,323) (10,340)
Finance costs    (2,872) (3,527)
Share of loss from associates accounted for using the equity method    (162) (145)

Profit/(loss) before income tax    97,687 (8,527)

Income tax (expense)/benefit    (30,681) 2,417

Profit/(loss) for the year    67,006 (6,110)

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of Perilya Limited    67,006 (6,110)

 Earnings per share for profit/(loss) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company  CENts CENTS

Basic earnings/(loss) per share    35.6 (3.6)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share    35.1 (3.6)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

 

consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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	 	 CoNsolidAtEd
    2006 2005
   NOTES $’000 $’000

AssETs   

Current Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents    125,048 12,022
Trade and other receivables    25,994 11,680
Inventories    21,700 12,751
Available-for-sale financial assets    5,381 -
Other financial assets    - 8,724
Derivative financial instruments    1,715 -

Total current assets    179,838 45,177

non-current Assets   

Restricted cash    10,560 9,588
Trade and other receivables    26 11
Investments accounted for using the equity method    53 90
Available-for-sale financial assets    4,942 -
Other financial assets    - 869
Deferred tax assets    21,262 1,692
Exploration and evaluation expenditure    22,223 15,756
Mine properties in use    48,866 63,779
Property, plant and equipment    54,194 49,894

Total non-current assets    162,126 141,679

Total assets    341,964 186,856

LIAbILITIEs   

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables    36,525 25,350
Borrowings    4,301 4,965
Current tax liabilities    27,523 316
Provisions    5,682 12,058
Prepaid income    5,368 -
Derivative financial instruments    45,143 -

Total current liabilities    124,542 42,689

non-current liabilities   

Borrowings    2,769 7,660
Provisions    20,855 20,232
Prepaid income    37,038 -
Derivative financial instruments    23,932 -
Other    1,407 -

Total non-current liabilities    86,001 27,892

Total liabilities    210,543 70,581

net assets    131,421 116,275

EquITY   

Contributed equity    102,970 99,286
Reserves    (39,141) 639
Retained profits   6 67,592 16,350

Total equity    131,421 116,275

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

	

consolidated balance sheet
as at 30 June 2006
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	 	 CoNsolidAtEd
    2006 2005
   NOTES $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year    116,275 100,553

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139, net of tax, to:   

Retained profits    (13,854) -

Reserves    1,194 -

Restated total equity at the beginning of the financial year    103,615 100,553

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax    945 -

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax    (42,109) -

net expense recognised directly in equity    (41,164) -

Profit/(loss) for the year    67,006 (6,110)

Total recognised income and expense for the year    25,842 (6,110)

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:   

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs    3,048 21,241

Dividends provided for or paid   7 (1,910) -

Employee share options    826 591

    1,964 21,832

Total equity at the end of the financial year    131,421 116,275

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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  ConsoLIDATED
    2006 2005
     $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities   

Cash receipts in the course of operations (inclusive of GST)    394,949 207,172

Cash payments in the course of operations (inclusive of GST)    (208,757) (167,148)

    186,192 40,024

Payment for price linked payments    (21,880) (7,338)

Interest received    2,974 1,444

Interest and other finance costs paid    (1,088) (3,599)

Income taxes paid    (159) (370)

net cash inflow from operating activities    166,039 30,161

Cash flows from investing activities   

Payments for mine properties    (29,750) (16,401)

Payment for production linked payments    (8,309) (6,183)

Payments for property, plant and equipment    (11,740) (10,229)

Payments for exploration and evaluation    (5,596) (15,563)

Payments for deferred stamp duty    - (801)

Payments for purchase of available-for-sale financial assets    (1,971) -

Payments for performance guarantee bonds    (972) (4)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    26 -

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets     10,849 1,235

Repayments of funds advanced from/(to) other entities    150 (150)

net cash outflow from investing activities    (47,313) (48,096)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from issues of shares and other equity securities    3,048 20,442

Dividends paid to company’s shareholders    (1,892) -

Proceeds from borrowings    14,871 2,000

Repayment of borrowings    (16,299) -

Repayment of finance lease liabilities    (5,303) (4,094)

Repayment of convertible notes    - (19,352)

Funds advanced to associates    (125) (150)

net cash outflow from financing activities    (5,700) (1,154)

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    113,026 (19,089)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    12,022 31,111

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year    125,048 12,022

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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This concise financial report relates to the consolidated entity of Perilya Limited (“the Group” or “the consolidated entity”) consisting 
of the parent entity Perilya Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2006. The accounting 
policies adopted have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated in note 2 below.

The company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to 
the ‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the concise financial report have been rounded off in accordance with 
that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

1. PREsEnTATIon CuRREnCY

The presentation currency used in this concise financial report is Australian dollars.

2. ADoPTIon of AusTRALIAn EquIvALEnTs To InTERnATIonAL fInAnCIAL REPoRTInG sTAnDARDs

The full financial report, on which this concise financial report is based, is the first annual financial report for the consolidated entity to be 
prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRSs). AASB 1 First time Adoption of 
Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing the full financial report. 

Financial statements of the consolidated entity, until 30 June 2005, had been prepared in accordance with previous Australian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP differs in certain respects from AIFRS. When preparing the consolidated 2006 financial 
statements, management has amended certain accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied in the AGAAP financial 
statements to comply with AIFRS. With the exception of financial instruments, the comparative figures in respect of 2005 were restated 
to reflect these adjustments. The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to only apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005 (see note 3 below).

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRS on the Group’s equity and its net income are 
given in note 49 of the full financial report. A summary of this information is provided below:

(a) Impact on total equity reported under previous AGAAP
	 	 	 	 30	JuNE	2005	 1 JULy 2004
	 	  	 	 $’000	 $’000

Total equity under previous AGAAP    115,353 98,824

Adjustments made to retained earnings (net of related tax impact)  

Restatement of restoration and rehabilitation provisions at present values    (1,693) (886)

Recalculation of deferred tax balances    2,615 2,615

Share-based payments    (639) (48)

Adjustments made to reserves  

Share-based payments    639 48

Total equity under AIfRs    116,275 100,553

(b) Impact on profit for the year ended 30 june 2005
	 	 	 	 	 30	JuNE	2005
	 	  	 	 	 $’000

Loss for the year ended 30 june 2005 as reported under AGAAP     (4,713)

Restatement of restoration and rehabilitation provisions at present values     (806)

Share-based payments     (591)

Loss for the year ended  30 june 2005 - restated under AIfRs     (6,110)

(c) Impact on cash flow statement for the year ended 30 june 2005

The adoption of AIFRSs has not resulted in any material adjustments to the cash flow statement.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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3. ChAnGE In ACCounTInG PoLICY

The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 First time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards to apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005. 

The adoption of AASB 139 has resulted in the Group recognising available-for-sale investments and all derivative instruments as assets or 
liabilities at fair value. This change in accounting policy has been:

• adopted in accordance with the transition rules contained in AASB 1, which does not require the restatement of comparative 
information for financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139; and

• accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings and the related fair value reserves at 1 July 2005. 

The impact on the balance sheet in the comparative period is set out below: 
	 NOTES	 	 30	JuNE	2005	 AdJustmENt	 1	July	2005
    $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets - Available-for-sale financial assets (a) (i) & (ii)  - 9,284 9,284

Current assets - Other financial assets (a) (i)  8,724 (8,724) -

Non-current assets - Available-for-sale financial assets (a) (i) & (ii)  - 2,014 2,014

Non-current assets - Other financial assets (a) (i)  869 (869) -

Non-current assets - Deferred tax assets (b)  1,692 5,937 7,629

Current liabilities - Provisions (b)  (12,058) 922 (11,136)

Current liabilities - Derivative financial instruments (b)  - (12,239) (12,239)

Non-current liabilities - Deferred tax liabilities (a) (ii)  - (511) (511)

Non-current liabilities - Derivative financial instruments (b)  - (8,474) (8,474)

Adjustments to net assets    (12,660) 

Reserves (a) (ii)  639 1,194 1,833

Retained profits (b)  16,350 (13,854) 2,496

Adjustments to total equity    (12,660) 

Adjustments recognised on transition for the Group were:

(a)  Reclassification and fair value adjustment of other financial assets that resulted in 

(i)  current and non-current other financial assets been reclassified as available-for-sale financial assets resulting in a decrease of 
current other financial assets of $8,724,000 and a decrease in non-current other financial assets of $869,000 with respective 
increases in current and non-current available-for-sale financial assets; and 

(ii)  an increase of $560,000 in current available-for-sale financial assets; an increase of $1,145,000 in non current available-for-sale 
financial assets; and a $511,000 increase in deferred tax liabilities with a net credit to the available-for-sale financial assets fair 
value reserve of $1,194,000; and

(b) Recognition of Broken Hill’s price linked payment obligation to the administrators of Pasminco as an embedded derivative. under this 
contract an amount will become payable to the administrators of Pasminco if the spot price of zinc averages in excess of uS$960/
tonne in any one quarter. This obligation extended to either 30 November 2009, or when payments under this arrangement totalled 
$30,000,000(1). Recognition of the price linked payment liability as an embedded derivative resulted in a $12,239,000 increase in the 
current derivative financial instruments account; a $922,000 decrease in the current provisions account, an $8,474,000 increase in 
the non-current derivative financial instruments account and a $5,937,000 increase in deferred tax assets with a net debit to retained 
profits of $13,854,000. 

The transitional provisions will not have any effect in future reporting periods.

(1) Given commodity price increase experienced through the 2006 financial year, price linked payment obligations, due to Pasminco by Perilya Broken Hill, were extinguished by the end of the current 
reporting period.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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4. sEGMEnT InfoRMATIon

(a) Description of segments

business segments

The Group is organised on a global basis into the following divisions by product and service type.

 Base metals mining 
Mining and extraction of base metal ores primarily for zinc, lead and silver

 Gold mining 
Mining and extraction of gold ore

 Exploration 
Exploration for and evaluation of gold and base metal ore deposits

 Investment and administration 
Investment and administration of the corporate office

(b) Primary reporting format – business segments
2006	 BAsE	mEtAls	 Gold	miNiNG	 ExPlorAtioN	 iNvEstmENt	&	CoNsolidAtEd	
	 miNiNG	 	 	 AdmiNistrAtioN
	 $’000	 $’000		 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Sales to external customers 325,151 15,962 - - 341,113

Other revenue/income 671 183 - 9,602 10,456

Total segment revenue/income 325,822 16,145 - 9,602 351,569

Segment result 123,912 (25,194) (1,132) 263 97,849

Share of net losses of associates     (162)

Profit before income tax     97,687

Income tax expense     (30,681)

Profit for the year     67,006

Segment assets # 152,015 11,683 22,223 # 134,781 320,702

unallocated assets     21,262

Total assets     341,964

Segment liabilities * * 164,701 4,748 - 3,198 172,647

unallocated liabilities     37,896

Total liabilities     210,543

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, intangibles 
and other non-current segment assets 28,237 15,511 - 797 44,545

Depreciation and amortisation expense 27,430 8,206 - 184 35,820

Impairment of mine properties - 18,989 - - 18,989

Other non-cash expenses 1,838 - 1,132 348 3,318

*  Base metals mining segment liabilities include derivative financial instrument liabilities and prepaid silver income.
#  Investment and administration segment assets include cash on deposit.

 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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4. sEGMEnT InfoRMATIon (ConTInuED)
2005	 BAsE	mEtAls	 Gold	miNiNG	 ExPlorAtioN	 iNvEstmENt	&	CoNsolidAtEd	
	 miNiNG	 	 	 AdmiNistrAtioN
	 $’000	 $’000		 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Sales to external customers 188,390 2,721 - - 191,111

Other revenue/income (491) 341 - 7,544 7,394

Total segment revenue/income 187,899 3,062 - 7,544 198,505

Segment result 7,766 (1,390) (13,715) (1,043) (8,382)

Share of net losses of associates     (145)

Loss before income tax     (8,527)

Income tax benefit     2,417

Loss for the year     (6,110)

Segment assets  117,266 24,135 15,756 29,699 186,856

unallocated assets     -

Total assets     186,856

Segment liabilities  36,462 2,899 - 2,061 41,422

unallocated liabilities     29,159

Total liabilities     70,581

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, intangibles 
and other non-current segment assets 26,200 19,330 2,255 298 48,083

Depreciation and amortisation expense 18,788 1,201 - 113 20,102

Impairment of mine properties - - - - -

Other non-cash expenses - - - - -

5. REvEnuE
  ConsoLIDATED
    2006 2005
    	 $’000 $’000

From continuing operations  

Sales revenue  

Sale of goods    341,113 191,111

    341,113 191,111

Other revenue     3,856 2,045

    344,969 193,156

6. RETAInED PRofITs

Movements in retained profits were as follows:
    2006 2005
    	 $’000 $’000

Balance 1 July    16,350 22,460

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 (net of tax)    (13,854) -

Net profit/(loss) for the year    67,006 (6,110)

Dividends    (1,910) -

Balance 30 June    67,592 16,350

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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7. DIvIDEnDs

(a) Dividends paid on ordinary shares
    2006 2005
    	 $’000 $’000

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2006 
of 1 cent (2005: nil) per fully paid share paid 7 April 2006  

Fully franked based on tax paid at 30%    1,910 -

Total dividends provided for or paid    1,910 -

(b) Dividends not recognised at year end
    2006 2005
    	 $’000 $’000

In addition to the above dividend, since year end the directors 
have recommended the payment of a final dividend of 4 cents 
per fully paid ordinary share, fully franked based on tax paid at 30%, 
with a record date for determining entitlement of 14 September 2006. 
The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid* 
on 2 October 2006 out of retained profits at 30 June 2006, 
but not recognised as a liability at year end is:    7,653 -

* Based on shares on issue of 191,322,239 as at 14 September 2006

8. REMunERATIon of AuDIToRs

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and 
non-related audit firms:

(a) Assurance services
    2006 2005
    	 $ $

Audit services  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under 
the Corporations Act 2001    209,835 149,000

Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firms for the audit or review of 
financial reports of any entity in the Group.    2,700 3,221

Total remuneration for audit services    212,535 152,221

Other assurance services  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  

Controls assurance services    12,000 -

AIFRS accounting services    90,000 9,300

Other services    16,270 31,705

Total remuneration for other assurance services    118,270 41,005

Total remuneration for assurance services    330,805 193,226

(b) Taxation services
    2006 2005
     $ $

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm  

Tax compliance services.    94,555 58,150

Total remuneration for taxation services    94,555 58,150

The Group employs PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where PricewaterhouseCooper’s 
expertise and experience with the Group are important. These assignments are principally taxation services where PricewaterhouseCoopers 
acts as the Groups taxation agent and in relation to provision of general corporate advice. It is the Group’s policy to seek competitive 
tenders for all major consulting projects.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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9. EvEnTs oCCuRInG AfTER ThE bALAnCE shEET DATE

Gleneagle Gold Limited announced commencement of production from Fortnum Gold Project

As part payment for the Fortnum Gold project sold to Gleneagle Gold Limited in July 2003, Perilya was to receive $500,000 upon commencement 
of production at the Fortnum mine by Gleneagle and, after the first 50,000 ounces of production, a royalty at the rate of $10 per ounce, 
up to a maximum of $2 million. Gleneagle announced that production had commenced in the week beginning 9 July 2006. The initial 
$500,000 due to Perilya on commencement of production was made in mid July and is not recognised in these financial statements. In 
relation to the ongoing production royalty payment arrangement the potential receipts pursuant to this arrangement cannot be reliably 
measured and have not been recognised in the balance sheet. 

Dividend declaration

Subsequent to the end of the financial year the directors have declared the payment of a fully franked final dividend of 4 cents per share. 
The record date for determining entitlement was 14 September 2006 and the final dividend is payable on 2 October 2006. The amount 
payable, based on shares on issue of 191,322,239 as at 14 September 2006, is $7,653,000. The financial impact of the final dividend is not 
included in the results for the year ended 30 June 2006.  

Apart from the items disclosed above, there has not arisen, in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, 
any item, transaction or event of a material or unusual nature which, in the opinion of the Directors has, or may, significantly affect the 
operations or financial position of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, in 
future periods.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
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The directors declare that in their opinion, the concise financial report of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2006 as set 
out on pages 60 to 69 complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2006. The financial statements and 
specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived from the full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial position and 
financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the full financial report, which is available on request.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

Leonard s. jubber 
Managing Director

Perth, Western Australia 
29 September 2006

directors’ declaration
30 June 2006
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AuDIT oPInIon
In our opinion, the concise financial report of Perilya Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2006 complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

sCoPE 

The concise financial report and directors’ responsibility

The concise financial report comprises the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated cash flow statement, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for Perilya Limited (the 
company) for the year ended 30 June 2006.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.  

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the concise financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company. 
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the 
concise financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional 
judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. 
Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected. For further explanation of an audit, visit our 
website www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We also performed an independent audit of the full financial report of the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2006. Our audit 
report on the full financial report was signed on 29 September 2006, and was not subject to any qualification. 

In conducting our audit of the concise financial report, we performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the concise 
financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports. 

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

• testing that the information included in the concise financial report is consistent with the information in the full financial report, and

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts, and other disclosures in the concise financial 
report which were not directly derived from the full financial report. 

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any material inconsistencies 
with the concise financial report.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers   

David j smith 
Partner

Perth, 29 September 2006

independent audit report
to the members of Perilya Limited
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Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out 
below. The information was applicable as at 18 September 2006.

DIsTRIbuTIon of EquITY shAREs
There were 38 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. The number of shareholders by size of holding is set out below:

sIZE of hoLDInG (oRDInARY shAREs) shAREhoLDERs

Less than 1,000 527
1,001 to 5,000 1,315
5,001 to 10,000 497
10,001 to 100,000 470
More than 100,000 71

Total 2,880

subsTAnTIAL shAREhoLDERs 
An extract of the Company’s register of Substantial Shareholders (who held 5 per cent or more of the issued capital) is set out below:

shAREhoLDER nuMbER of shAREs PERCEnTAGE hELD %

Young Poong Corporation Ltd / Korea Zinc Company Ltd 19,198,750 10.40 
Acorn Capital 12,460,847 6.51
Barclays Global Investors Australia Limited 11,642,104 6.08
Delta Partners LLC / Charles Jobson 11,000,000 5.75

ToP 20 shAREhoLDERs
The top 20 largest shareholders are listed below:

shAREhoLDER nuMbER of shAREs PERCEnTAGE hELD %

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited  33,903,969 17.72
ANZ Nominees Limited (Cash income A/C) 29,790,338 15.57
National Nominees Limited 29,691,856 15.52
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 20,850,034 10.90
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 10,948,568 5.72
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited (GSCO ESCA) 5,383,928 2.81
Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 5,301,910 2.77
Yandal Investments Pty Ltd 3,110,000 1.63 
Lyrebird Pty Ltd 2,660,871 1.39
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 2,302,345 1.20
Calm Holdings Pty Limited (The Tide Account) 2,000,000 1.05
CPu Share Plans Pty Ltd (Perilya Employee Share Acquisition Plan) 1,749,239 0.91 
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,657,490 0.87
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd (CFSIL Cwlth Boff Super A/C) 1,637,618 0.86
Mr Eric Arthur Hopgood & Mr Owen William Hopgood 1,366,000 0.71
Aurex Pty Ltd 1,169,358 0.61
Australian Reward Investment Aliance 1,122,332 0.59
Mirrabooka Investments Limited 1,000,000 0.52
Krystal Holdings Pty Ltd (Macnish Family A/C) 798,576 0.42
Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd (BPB A/C) 737,695 0.39

Total 157,182,127 82.16

oRDInARY shAREs
At the date of this report the company has on issue 191,322,239 ordinary fully paid shares on issue.

For all ordinary shares, voting rights are on a show of hands whereby every member present in the room or by proxy shall have one vote 
and upon a poll, each share have one vote.

oPTIons
At the date of this report the company has 8,195,000 employee options on issue with exercise prices between $0.45 and $4.32 per share, 
issued in accordance with the Employee Share Option Plan approved by shareholders in November 2003. There are no voting rights 
attached to options.

ASX additional information
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AIfRs is Australian Equivalent of 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

AGAAP is Australian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles.

Alteration change in the physical or 
chemical composition of rock.

base metal generally a non-ferrous metal 
inferior in value to the precious metals, 
usually zinc, lead, copper and nickel.

belt a zone or a band of a particular kind 
of rock strata exposed on the surface.

Cash costs are direct production costs, 
such as for mining, milling, smelting, 
refining, maintenance, marketing, freight 
and selling.

Commodity cost curves plot global 
production against the cost of production 
less intermediate and co-product revenue. 
Cumulative production is expressed as a 
percentage, usually divided into quartiles. 
The lower a producer is placed on the 
cumulative production curve, the higher 
its margins at a given price.

Corporations Act relates to Australian 
federal laws covering the legal and 
constitutional structure of companies, 
specifying how a company conducts 
business with other entities, the regulation 
of corporate finance, shareholdings, duties 
and liabilities of the board of directors, 
directors and officers.

Cost of sales includes all cash and 
non-cash production costs, any selling, 
marketing and administration costs and 
takes into account any stock movements 
and royalties.

Cutoff grade is the lowest grade of 
mineralised material considered economic 
to process. It is used in the calculation 
of the quantity of ore present in a 
given deposit.

Dolerite an intrusive dyke rock composed 
mainly of feldspar and pyroxene.

EbITDA is earnings before interest and tax, 
depreciation and amortisation.

Environmental non-compliance incidents 
are incidents or circumstances that breach 
statutory environmental obligations 
established through legislation, regulation 
or a site operating licence.

EsAP is Employee Share Acquisition Plan.

fitness for work relates to a person’s 
capacity to work safely and free of 
impairment due to stress, fatigue and the 
effects of drugs and/or alcohol.

fully-allocated cost includes all mining 
and processing costs, cash costs, plus any 

amortisation, depreciation, royalty and 
administration costs less intermediate and 
co-product revenue. This figure is used by 
independent agencies to assess the real 
cost of mine production, and is broadly 
similar to the cost of sales figure we use.

Global Reporting Initiative is an initiative 
to develop, promote and disseminate 
an internationally accepted framework 
for voluntary reporting of the economic, 
environmental, and social performance of 
an organisation.

Grade is the proportion of metal or mineral 
present in ore, or any other host material, 
expressed in this document as per cent, 
grams per tonne or ounces per tonne.

Gram-metres corrected intercept length 
multiplied by the average grade of 
the intercept.

Granophyric descriptive of an igneous 
texture characterised by irregular 
intergrowths of quartz and feldspar.

Greenfield exploration is the search for ore 
bodies away from existing operations.

Greenhouse gas emissions are emissions 
of carbon dioxide and other gases, such as 
methane, that cause the “greenhouse effect”.

head grade is the average grade of ore 
delivered to the mill.

Lhs is left hand side.

London Metal Exchange, or the LME, is 
a major “spot” market for selling metals 
outside long-term contracts. As such, 
it provides useful benchmark or 
reference prices.

Lost-time injury frequency rate (LTIfR) is a 
work-related injury that results in a person 
being off work for at least one full shift.

Medically-treated injury (MTI) is a work-
related injury requiring treatment beyond 
the scope of normal first aid.

Mineral Resource is material of intrinsic 
economic interest occurring in such form 
and quantity that there are reasonable 
prospects for eventual economic extraction.

Mineralisation is a concentration of 
valuable solid minerals.

Minerals are any inorganic, naturally-
occurring element or compound. 
All metals and most chemicals are 
derived from products extracted by the 
resources industry.

ore is a rock from which a metal(s) or 
mineral(s) can be economically extracted.

ore reserve is that part of a mineral 
deposit which is removed from an 
underground mine for processing.

Porphyry an igneous rock in which a 
comparatively fine-grained matrix contains 
scattered coarse mineral crystals.

Probable ore reserves are reserves for 
which quantity and grade and/or quality 
are computed from information similar to 
that used for proved reserves, but the sites 
for inspection, sampling and measurement 
are farther apart or are otherwise less 
adequately spaced. The degree of 
assurance, although lower than that for 
proved reserves, is high enough to assume 
continuity between points of observation.

Proved ore reserves are reserves for which 
(a) quantity is computed from dimensions 
revealed in outcrops, trenches, workings 
or drill holes; grade and/or quality are 
computed from the results of detailed 
sampling and (b) the sites for inspection, 
sampling and measurement are spaced 
so closely and the geologic character is so 
well defined that size, depth and mineral 
content of reserves are well established.

Reserves or ore reserves are remaining 
mineralisation that, at the time of the 
estimation, is sufficiently delineated to 
indicate that material can be economically 
and legally mined and extracted.

Rhs is right hand side.

Risk management is any process that 
identifies, assesses and addresses risk.

Royalties are payable to the State 
Government upon the extraction and 
recovery of metal from the mining leases.

stakeholders are people or organisations 
who have a general, financial or business 
interest in an enterprise.

sulphide is a naturally-occurring 
compound of metal and sulphur.

sustainability relates to business 
operations and development that meet the 
needs of the present without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet 
their needs.

Tailings are the rock wastes which are 
rejected from a concentrating process 
after the recoverable valuable minerals 
have been extracted.

Triple-bottom-line is an aggregation of 
the economic, environmental, and social 
performance of an organisation.

us$ is united States currency / 
united States dollars.

value-added is the extent to which the 
value of a finished product exceeds the 
cost of its raw material components.

glossary of terms
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GRI glossary

Perilya aspires to report on our activities to stakeholders in a transparent, open and meaningful way.  As part of this approach we aim to include a 
range of elements from the Global Reporting Initiative’s Guidelines. Elements that we have addressed within this report are detailed below.

Gri	ElEmENt	 PErilyA’s	APProACH	 PAGE

vision and  Vision inside front cover 
strategy CEO’s review 4
 Chairman’s review 4
 Sustainability 26
 Outlook inside front cover
 Strategy 5

Profile Profile Inside front cover
 Operations and products 12, 16, 66
 Organisational structure 24-25
 Map of operations and assets 15
 Principal activities 39
 Scale of organisation 36
 Stakeholders 30, 57
 Contact details Inside back cover
 Corporate Directory Inside back cover
 5 year summary 36
 Independent professional advice 54

Governance Governance structure 54-59 
structure and Board committees 56 
Management

 Board composition 54 systems
 Board directors 43, 54

 Board meetings  55
 Board profiles 32, 33
 Board role 56
 Executive and Non-Executive Remuneration 44
 Executive directors 32, 43, 46, 54
 Major shareholders 72
 Code of Conduct 57
 Risk management 56
 Risk assessment 10, 40, 42, 56, 59
 Risk management committee 56
 Stakeholder consultation 30, 57
 Shareholder communications 57
 Management systems 10, 27, 29, 42
 Managing impacts 27
 Charters and principles 56
 Reporting standards 64-65

Gri	ElEmENt	 PErilyA’s	APProACH	 PAGE

Economic Net profit (loss) 3 
Performance Geographic breakdown of markets 15 
Indicators

 Total expenditure breakdown 27
 Payroll and employee benefits 60
 Taxation 68
 Community donations 30
 Local economic contribution 27

Environmental Energy use 29 
Performance Water use 30 
Indicators

 Biodiversity 29
 Greenhouse gas emissions 29
 National Pollutant Inventory 29
 Waste 29, 42
 Environmental impacts 29
 Fines and non-compliances 29
 Tailings 30
 Dust emissions 28-29
 Environmental compliance and performance 29
 Environmental rehabilitation bonds 30
  

social Workforce 31 
Performance union representation 31 
Indicators

 Employment creation 31
 Payroll and employee benefits 60
 Occupational accidents and diseases 27-28
 Employee consultation 24
 Injury rates 28
 Training and development 28
 Preserving customer health and safety 27
 Closure plans 30
 Emergency response 28
 Health and safety 27
 Land management 30
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stock Exchange Listing

The company’s shares are listed on 
the Australian Stock Exchange Limited

ASX Code: PEM

shareholder information

At Perilya, we are committed to the 
provision of timely, balanced shareholder 
communication, using plain language. 
The policy is provided on our website, 
along with our other corporate governance 
policies: www.perilya.com.au

Feedback or comments on Perilya’s 
shareholders communication are welcome.

Continuous disclosure

Copies of Perilya’s announcements to the 
ASX since the company listed as a public 
company are available on Perilya's website: 
www.perilya.com.au/Announce.htm

Register to receive ASX announcements 
via email by visiting: 
www.perilya.com.au/Contactus.htm

website

• Perilya’s website (www.perilya.com.au) 
enables stakeholders to access company 
information at their convenience. 

share Registry

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Level 2, 45 St George’s Tce
Perth, Western Australia, 6000
Telephone: +61 8 9323 2000 
Website: www.computershare.com.au

The following shareholder forms are 
available from Computershare and are on 
the Computershare website:

• Change of address notification
• Change of account designation
• Direct credit instruction
• Minor(s) statement and indemnity
• Name change - statutory declaration
• Name correction request & indemnity
• Request to consolidate holdings
• Standard transfer
• Annual report election
• TFN, ABN or exemptions notification.

All forms should be submitted directly 
to Computershare

Investor relations

Write to:
Investor Relations
Perilya Limited
Po Box 3057 
Adelaide Terrace
Perth Western Australia 6832
Email: info@perilya.com.au
Telephone: +61 8 6210 2000
Facsimile: +61 8 6210 2099

EvENt	 dAtE

Annual General Meeting Wednesday 29 November 2006   
 3.00pm, Exchange Plaza Theatrette 
 2 Esplanade, Perth WA 6000

September 2006 Quarterly Report lodged with the ASX  by 24 October 2006

December 2006 Quarterly Report lodged with the ASX by 25 January 2007

December 2006 Half Year Report lodged with the ASX by 28 February 2007

March 2007 Quarterly Report lodged with the ASX by 24 April 2007

June 2007 Quarterly Report lodged with the ASX by 24 July 2007

Full Year results lodged with the ASX by 31 August 2007

Annual report lodged with the ASX by 27 October 2007

Calendar of events*

PERILYA LIMITED 2006 CONCISE ANNUAL REPORT

* DATES ARE INDICATIVE
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